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Friday, November 25, 2016
--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m. 
     MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

     Good morning, Mr. Nettleton.  Any preliminary matters this morning?

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel Members.  Yes, I do have some preliminary matters.  Just on the administrative side, there were a few transcript corrections to make.  Three are of the same ilk.  These are found at pages 79, line 13, page 80 at line 6, and page 98 at line 24.  In each of the cases Mr. Vels referred to Exhibit 1-6-4, and it should be Exhibit I-6-4. 


Mr. Hubert, I believe you also have a transcript correction that you'd like to speak to. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I do.  Thank you.  Good morning.


I am referring to page 43 of the transcript, line 13, where I made a reference to a line 12, and I should have qualified what line 12 I was referring to.  The reference should have been qualified as Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 8, line 12, which is what I was looking at. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  


There were two additional transcript clarifications, Mr. Chairman, that Mr. Penstone would like to speak to.


Mr. Penstone, could you please proceed with those?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Thank you.  The reference in the transcript is on page 93.  At the time, Mr. Rubenstein was asking me about training package and training materials that were delivered to Staff, and I responded that I don't know whether the decision to undertake customer consultations was reflected in the presentation and whether this presentation occurred prior to that.


I can confirm that this training was first delivered on January 21st.  Its content would have been developed by Staff late in 2015 or early in 2016 to enable that delivery to occur.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Penstone, help me out with that.  Does that clarify whether or not the presentation was before or after?  I am not catching that.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the material that was included in the presentation would have been developed prior to Hydro One's decision to proceed with the consultation. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Understood.  Thank you.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  My second point of clarification occurs on page 193 of the transcript.  Mr. Janigan was asking me about whether the proposed investments in the Ottawa area were related to a contract that had recently been negotiated between the Provinces of Ontario and Quebec.  It was a 2-terawatt-hour deal.


I can confirm that the Ottawa-area upgrades are outlined in investment summary document referenced as B1‑03-11D-3.  The title of the investment is "Merivale to Hawthorne, 230 KV Conductor Grade.”  The exhibit clarifies that the need for this upgrade was prompted by an agreement between the Province of Ontario and Quebec to provide 500 megawatts of power capacity to each jurisdiction.  It was not prompted by the 2-terawatt-hour purchase agreement referenced by Mr. Janigan. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Penstone. 


Finally, Mr. Chairman, yesterday there was some discussion with yourself and Mr. Vels regarding an Undertaking 1.2 and an additional issue that Mr. Vels took under advisement, and Mr. Vels, I understand, has an update regarding that topic.


Mr. Vels?

     MR. VELS:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


So upon review of the transcript yesterday, I'd like to clarify the scope of Undertaking J1.2 and provide a recommendation of what we can provide.


So yesterday Mr. Quesnelle asked that we provide a copy of the team scorecard and individual executive goals in order that the OEB can understand how executives are going to be incented to see this application through its implementation. 


So there are two deliverables:  One, Hydro One's 2017 team scorecard and, secondly, information on the personal goals of Hydro One's management team.  The 2017 team scorecard will follow the same format as Hydro One's 2016 team scorecard already on the record at Exhibit K1.4.  Aggregated information outlining the goals of the executive management team, we propose that information on the senior management team's goals that is unrelated to Hydro One's regulated business would not be included or, alternatively, would be redacted. 


That said, there is an important timing consideration.  Hydro One's board of directors will be reviewing both of these items at its December 2nd meeting.  As a matter of governance, Hydro One's board and human resources committee always reserves the right to require changes to be made to the goals and metrics and may indeed ask for changes at that time.


As such, and to respect our internal governance, we will be in a position to provide this information following the outcome of that meeting, which is next week.  We will be able to file this information once approved on the public record consistent with the manner in which we would disclose them in our own disclosures, redacted only for material, non-public information. 


If there were follow-up questions on these documents or the approved business plan that we intend to file, this witness panel is available to reattend and address those questions at a later point in this proceeding.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vels.  


Mr. Nettleton, the Panel will discuss at the break and provide a response after the break. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Those are my matters. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  


Mr. Stephenson, I understand that there has been a switch with Ms. Girvan, and you will be up first this morning? 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  I have, and thank you to all for that accommodation.  

Hydro One Networks Inc. Strategy Panel:


Mr. Vels,


Mr. Hubert,


Mr. Penstone,


Ms. Cheung, Resumed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers Union.  I know some of you, and others, I am meeting for the first time. 


I want to deal with the issues that I am going to be discussing with you at a high level.  I don't think -- it shouldn't be necessary for you to refer to the documents, and I certainly don't want to get into the numbers in any detail.  I can deal with that for later panels.  


The first issue is:  Can you just confirm for me that it is a strategic objective of the company to provide prudent -- good and prudent stewardship over the assets it is managing in its transmission system?  Is that a fair statement?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That is a goal of asset managers.  The business -- Hydro One's formal business objectives are included in our evidence.  But, as asset managers, our intent is always to be prudent stewards of assets. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And, frankly, that's a big part of your business, fair, as being asset managers?  You've got a huge pile of assets, and you've got to manage them.  That's a significant aspect of your business; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly it's a significant aspect of my job, yes.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I am going to get away from the reliability risk metric for the purposes of this question, anyway.  But if we make two assumptions, assumption number one is that the Board approves your sustaining capital budget as requested, and assumption number two being that Hydro One succeeds in implementing your sustaining capital plan over the test period.  If we make those two assumptions, is it fair to say that the overall condition of the transmission plant and equipment, when measured in the aggregate, will be better on January 1, 2019 than it was on December 31, 2016?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So based on the reliability risk metric that we have, the outcome of our investment plan as proposed would result in a reduction of reliability risk, and that would be achieved through an improvement of our assets.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And your reliability risk metric is an attempt through modelling to quantify in a numerical form this somewhat amorphous notion of what is the overall condition of your assets.  Is that fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Actually, I would clarify that the overall condition of our assets is known, and we can measure it on an individual asset basis. 


The point of the reliability risk metric is to make a determination about what is the impact of the overall -- on the overall reliability of our transmission system of making investments in the particular assets. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  It's a very important manifestation of the condition of your assets, from a system perspective and a customer perspective. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  It is an outcome measure that we use to be able to gauge the expected effectiveness and the impact of our investments. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  But it's -- you have reached a conclusion that it's helpful -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  -- for you, for planning purposes, for business administration purposes, for regulatory purposes, for a variety of purposes as a composite metric because, frankly, talking about the asset condition of assets is a granular exercise, and it's difficult to describe that on a portfolio basis?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Other than being directional and saying better or worse; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Previously, we were able to say, on an individual asset basis, here is the impacts of investments that would be made.  This particular metric enables us, as you point out, Mr. Stephenson, to gauge the extent to which those investments would impact the overall reliability.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I just want to put this issue of the level of sustaining capital in perspective.  In the event the Board, in its wisdom, decided in this case not to approve the full amount of your proposed sustaining capital budget, that doesn't mean, from Hydro One's perspective, that the need to undertake the work that's reflected in that budget goes away; right?  

That work all needs to be done and the only question is when it is done; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  The assets would be -- the current condition of those assets would not be remediated or addressed.  And it's just a matter -- eventually they would be addressed.  It would be deferred.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And so just to be very clear, when it comes to this question of sustaining capital, the issue isn't whether ratepayers are going to have to pick up the cost of doing this work.  The only question is when they are going to have to pick up that cost; right?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And so a reduction today essentially kicks these costs down the road to some later period?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I would just like to clarify.  It's not only a matter of timing of when the work would be have to be undertaken, but also under what circumstances. 


For example, if it's deferred and equipment fails, then we are going to have to undertake the work in a corrective manner as opposed to a manner that enables us to address asset condition before failure.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  I am about -- you just anticipated where I was going.  Deferral doesn't necessarily come for free; right?  And one of the costs of deferral is the one you just identified.  That is an entirely foreseeable cost of deferral; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, again, one of the consequences of deferral is you run the risk that the asset will fail and you would have to repair it in a failed state, and the other is the consequences of that failure on customers.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, yes.  There are two considerations, and let me just unpack that.  I think I understand you.  

So number one, there is outage implications because it fails as opposed to being taken out in a planned manner; that's number one.  When you do a planned outage you can accommodate customers more readily; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And, secondly, the actual cost of undertaking the work is very likely to be higher when it is done in an unplanned rather than in a planned fashion; correct?

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  But there are other costs associated with deferral, aren’t there?  Let me just run through a few of them and see if you agree with me. 


Number one is that it does not allow you to achieve one of the objectives that you are seeking to achieve in this plan, which is to give customers an absolute improvement in reliability risk; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The impact of deferring these investments?  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I mean, you have set the level of your sustaining capital at a number which, if achieved, will give your customers an absolute improvement in their reliability risk over time; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  We have estimated that the proposed investment levels, and not only the investment levels, but also the investments on particular asset groups, will result in a reduction in reliability risk. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are doing that, at least in part, because of the output of your customer outreach efforts. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Consultations, yeah.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  If they are going to face -- to put it just in the bluntest terms, if they are going to face increased costs, they want to see some absolute benefit arising from it; and if you do it at a lower level, they are just -- you are just treading water; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So that was evident, and this is how that information and those choices were presented to our customers in the illustrative scenarios that we provided in the consultation process.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Now, another issue in relation to deferral is the pressure on Hydro One regarding your asset demographics isn't going to improve any time soon in the sense that -- and you reflected this earlier -- you have a portfolio of assets that were put into service 50 or 60 years ago, and you have a bulge that you are -- and that bulge is not self-improving any time soon; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  And that is also evident in our five-year forecast of proposed investments into the future.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  So, in other words, even if you do work at the proposed rate, you've got some significant challenges and costs associated with that bulge in any event; right?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And if you defer this work, you are simply compounding that problem. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  You are compounding the amount of work that we have to do and the execution challenges to execute larger amounts of work in future periods.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And this is the so-called bow-wave effect that we hear from time to time.  Is that right? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's been referred to as a bow wave previously; correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And the point of that is simply that not only does it -- because you have more work to be done later that there are, by definition, higher costs.  At some point in time, if the bow wave gets big enough, there are simply absolute problems in terms of being able to execute on that work in a timely fashion; correct? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And if it's not executed in a timely fashion, you then run into the problem of having to deal with it on a breakdown basis; correct?

     MR. PENSTONE:  Reliability increases, and the risk of failure increases, and the risk of dealing with breakdown maintenance increases, correct.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Another problem of deferral is that there is no reason for any of us to believe that the upward pressure on overall electricity bills that client -- or that customers have to pay is going to abate any time soon; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's a comment -- I'd prefer not to comment on that. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  But, listen, I mean, you get up in the morning, and you read the newspaper, and you understand that, whether it's distribution costs or generation costs or global adjustment cost or nuclear refurbishment costs or whatever it is, there is -- you don't hear that there's anybody putting their hands up and saying there is gigantic cost reductions coming down the pipe.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So I can speak to transmission and distribution assets, and I can speak to the fact that there is an increasing need to address the condition of those assets, and that will continue -- that pressure will continue to exist.  I would prefer not to comment about issues like global adjustment and generation contracts. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  You are not aware that there is going to be a convenient time for these costs to be faced, a more convenient time in the future.  You don't have any knowledge of that, I take it?  

     MR. VELS:  I think maybe it would be helpful to address the question on what the impact on bills is.  What I can confirm is that, when we discussed both our transmission, in fact, and our upcoming distribution system plan with our board of directors and with our senior management, we had a significant amount of conversation in those discussions about the potential or the possibility to defer capital, and the reason for that is that we have provided some level of estimates to our board and to our management as to what the total impact on electricity bills will be, and we actively sought to work out to what extent we could reduce our impact on the bill in the context of our customers' increasing cost pressures. 


So we did discuss how much capital could be deferred or reduced in that context, and the results, as reflected in this plan, are the informed judgment of our asset group in terms of the optimum level. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And you were asked some questions yesterday about how did we get where we are now and all that.  Why is it that this wasn't done sooner, but this sensitivity around rate impact and bill impact is not -- this isn't the first time you have had to deal with this issue.  This has been an issue in every rate hearing that Hydro One has ever had; isn't that right?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So we are always trying to find the balance point between rates, reliability, customer needs, and preferences. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And so the engineers, at the end of the day, are -- almost never win, in the sense of, if you looked at it from an engineering perspective and what they would, on their wish list, think is the prudent amount of work to be done, there are other factors that -- taken into consideration, and you wind up proposing to do less than the engineers would want, if they had their say?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I think I would like to clarify that the engineers are also aware of the importance and need of meeting customers' expectations and managing rate impacts. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  I was trying to compliment engineers, not to undermine them there, but I get your point.  I am not suggesting they are blind to the realities.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's so rare that engineers ever get a compliment, we don't recognize them, so...  [Laughter]

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Just the last issue about deferral, and that is simply this:  The other issue that is created about pushing costs off into the future is that you wind up having an intergenerational equity problem as well; right?  In the sense that, if these are costs that should be borne by this generation of customers and you are pushing them off and they are being borne by a future generation of customers, that raises a fairness issue as well; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  In my judgment, that's a fair remark.  I'd also like to point out too that -- and it's included in our evidence, and it relates to the challenges of executing the work -- we anticipate that our ability to get outages in the future, particularly when you have multiple nuclear units that will be scheduled to be on extended outages, will be more challenging.  And that is another reason why we would prefer the work not to be deferred.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Moving on to another issue is, although your capital budget is increasing -- am I right -- your OM&A global budget is actually decreasing over the test period and relative to prior periods; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Then there is a very, very modest increase in the sustaining OM&A, I believe. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then if we just look at that, if we try to -- whenever we talk about these increasing budgets, there is always two aspects to them, or I'd like to try to unpack two aspects of them.  One is there are -- you forecast certain cost escalations in terms of the price of actually doing a unit of work; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And then, secondly, there is the actual number of units of work that you are going to accomplish, the actual result of the work. 


And am I right that, if we look at your increased sustaining budget, it is overwhelmingly an increase because you're doing more work rather than there being an increase in your unit cost? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the point that I would like to make is we recognize more work has to be done but, as was discussed at some length yesterday, particularly by Mr. Vels, there is a significant emphasis within the corporation on productivity to enable us to achieve more work at lower costs.  But the work is there.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, right.  And that's what I wanted, actually, to get, again, on the sustaining OM&A as opposed to sustaining capital.  As we have indicated, there is a modest increase in that amount.  And, again, you are going to have more -- for those dollars, you are actually going to have more units of work done; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I would -- 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  It's hard to measure, I understand, but your accomplishment will be higher?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I would defer that, if you don't mind, to the planning panel, where we could get into the specifics of the units of work in the particular areas. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That's fine. 


I just wanted to come back for one moment to the customer engagement issue.  And there was a discussion yesterday about the fact that the people that you engaged with were the people that are your customers, that is, LDCs and directs and generators.  And you didn't engage with LDC end users.  You recall all that?

     MR. PENSTONE:  I recall it all, yes.  And I want to just to point out and remind the Board that that was in the context of the formal customer consultations as opposed to other means whereby we engage our customers.  So I just want the ensure that the Board recognizes that our customer interaction is not just limited to the formal consultation that was included in the evidence.  We have many other mechanisms and means where we interact with our customers. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And I -- I just want to -- I mean, arguably, more consultation is better and whatever, but your -- consulting with your LDCs actually gives you some insights, I am going to suggest, that consulting with LDC end users doesn't give you.  And specifically it's this: For an LDC end user, when they have an outage, it is not going to be readily apparent to them whether the cause of the outage is at a distribution level or somewhere else in the system; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  But I take it that that is an issue that LDCs are very sensitive to.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The reliability of supply that is provided to LDCs is absolutely a concern to them.  And when I say the reliability of supply, the supply from the transmission system.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the LDC -- and if you don't know the answer -- although, you guys, of course, are an LDC as well, but one of the issues that LDCs have to deal with when they are dealing with their customers about the consequences of outages is to be able to interact with them and explain what the problem was and whether or not it was caused by an upstream transmission outage; fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  When outages occur with LDCs, they typically will identify what the source and cause of it is, whether it's their assets or an upstream asset of Hydro One East transmission.  That's a typical practice. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  So, from your perspective, I take it, when the LDCs are giving you feedback about the impacts of transmission level outages on their systems and how that's a problem and why it's a problem and the magnitude of the problem, I take it that that is -- you treat that as (a) accurate and (b) valuable.  Is that fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  I would also point out, Mr. Stephenson, that, in our conversations with LDCs, they are also concerned about the rate impacts on their customers as well.  So they are concerned about, yes, the reliability that is provided to an LDC, but they are also concerned about the resulting impact on their customers' bills. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And that is because they are typically the customer facing – 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  -- and they are the first ones that have to deal with the complaints. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Again, I just wanted to clarify, they were not only concerned about reliability impacts, but also the bill impacts. 

     MR. HUBERT:  If I may add, the topic of discussions with LDCs and their customers did come up at our stakeholder sessions, and they’re documented in our evidence as well.  There are two concerns that that we have heard and also expressed during those stakeholder sessions.

One of them is we feel that it would not be appropriate for Hydro One, as a transmitter, to reach into the LDCs’ customer base and consult with them directly regarding transmission impacts.  The other one is -- because that is the accountability of the distributors who have that relationship with their customers. 


Secondly, we also felt that, given the amount of discussion that entities in this industry have with customers -- the OEB is actively engaging with customers; transmitters are engaging with customers; and distributors are engaging with customers -- it is very important for us to ensure that there is streamlined and coordinated discussions with various customer groups regarding issues and not to muddy the water.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  The last thing I want to deal with, and I am going to deal with this just briefly because I have more questions for a later panel, is the human resources issue.  


Is it fair to say that it is a strategic objective to properly manage your human resources complement?  Is that fair?

     MR. VELS:  That would be one of our business objectives, yes. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And you would agree with me that one of the greatest strengths of your company is its people, its employees; correct? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, that is not just a slogan.  I take it that is actually a core value. 

     MR. VELS:  Absolutely.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  I just, on this front, on the human resources issue, there has been a lot of focus, and there is going to be a lot of focus in this case, about your sustaining capital program because it's a part of your application. 


My client, the power workers, represent a large group of the employee base at Hydro One.  But in terms of the sustaining capital program, PWU-represented employees actually play, if I can call it, a secondary or support role in terms of delivering that capital work.  That's true, isn't it?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Could you define support role, Mr. Stephenson?  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, most of the capital work is undertaken either by external contractors, where the employees are not actually employees of Hydro One at all or by building trades represented employees in terms of your construction workforces. 

     MR. VELS:  I think I understand what you meant by secondary.  I am not sure I would have described it that way.  We rely on an appropriate mix of internal and external staff.  I think that would be an absolutely  correct representation of our construction division. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  If you look at the actual labour cost component of your capital plan, the labour cost attributable to PWU-represented employees is not the majority of that cost; correct?  And if you need to take an undertaking on that, that's fine.  I don't expect you to have that number on your fingertips. 

     MR. VELS:  I certainly don't have that number at my fingertips. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Actually, you know what?  I am going to come back, and I’ll deal with that with either the planning panel or an HR person. 


But, in any event, it is correct, am I not, that, in terms of the actual construction of your capital projects, you have a whole construction workforce of building tradespeople that are involved in that work; correct?  

     MR. VELS:  That's right.  

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And they are represented by all sorts of other unions, not my client; correct? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That's all.  Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, Board Panel. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Ms. Girvan?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:
     MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I am going to follow up with a few things from yesterday, but first I wanted to get a sense from you, Mr. Vels.  I know, on November 11th, there was a press release that announced a new executive team at Hydro One.  Is that correct?  

     MR. VELS:  I assume that the date is correct.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Setting out a new CEO -- COO, sorry, and an executive vice-president of strategy and corporate development.  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Are those two new positions? 

     MR. VELS:  The chief operating officer position is not new, but the person, of course, is, as he has been recently appointed.  The chief development officer and strategy is a new position.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  And can you just take me through briefly.  I am trying to understand the relative responsibilities between what you do, what the COO does, and what this new executive vice-president, strategy and corporate development do, just at a high level.  

     MR. VELS:  It's also a potentially deep question.  The chief development officer is responsible for two primary functions.  The first is to develop and set and prepare the strategy for the company and work with the management team, and then ultimately with the board, to agree to strategy overall, the overarching strategy for the company, not just its regulated business, but potentially strategy for growing the company outside of Ontario and over time.  


And he is also responsible for executing on any mergers and acquisitions transactions that we might enter into, both local distribution company acquisitions here in Ontario and, over time, potentially M&A activity outside of the province. 


The chief operating officer is primarily responsible for really operating our business, which today is 99 per cent regulated, and delivering the work programs in the most efficient manner possible.  I would manage the finances of the company and the other functions that generally go with the CFO function.  In addition, I am responsible for information technology.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And within the context of those positions, do you all split your time equally between distribution and transmission?  

     MR. VELS:  We have a -- we all perform analysis of our time allocation, and the time allocation between both regulated and non-regulated and transmission distribution and our other subsidiaries is calculated, and that forms the basis of the allocation of our costs to each of our businesses.  I think it would be very fair to say that the percentage allocation between those three positions would all be different.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Can you explain to me how they would be different?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, the chief development officer, for example, has very little, if any, of his time allocated to the regulated businesses.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  Because a significant amount of his work involves, you know, working on strategy and potentially M&A for our non-regulated businesses.  A very high percentage of my time would be allocated to our regulated businesses, because they represent 99 per cent of our business, and I would spend some time with our shareholders and working on investor relations, for example, and that allocation of time is not allocated to the regulated business; it's allocated to Hydro One Limited, which is an unregulated company.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But with respect to the COO and you, how is that work -- how does it work between distribution and transmission?  Is it about 50/50?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, given the relative sizes of the business, I can't tell you, just because I don't have the numbers available to me right now, but it would be a fairly even split. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MR. VELS:  Because they do represent, depending on the metric, roughly 50 per cent each of our regulated business. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And you do this time allocation on a regular basis, on a daily basis?

     MR. VELS:  It depends on the level in the organization.  For senior executives, it's an estimate that's done as and when it's warranted, so at least once a year, and as circumstances in the company change.  So, for example, if the mix of our business changed materially, we would redo that calculation, but, no, I am not required to fill in timesheets and track my time each day. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you. 


And to just follow up yesterday a few things, you were discussing with Mr. Rubenstein the governance agreement with the Province, the new governance agreement.
     MR. VELS:  Yes.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Is that agreement on the record in this case?  

     MR. VELS:  I believe it is.  It was provided as one of the interrogatory responses, and I do not have that reference available to me right now.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Can your counsel just confirm that, please? 

     MR. VELS:  Maybe just wait until it gets called up. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  We are madly scrambling for it, Ms. Girvan.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, okay. 


MR. NETTLETON:  We can provide that at the break. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, that's fine.  I just wanted to make sure that that was on the record. 


Okay.  So my other question is:  Under the new arrangements with the government, can the government still issue directives to Hydro One?  

     MR. VELS:  No.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  No?  Okay.  Thank you very much.  


Now, you were discussing yesterday the Attorney General's report, and this was in the context of your opening comments, and on page 28 of the transcript yesterday -- and you can pull that up, or I can just read it to you.  It's not important, necessarily, to pull it up -- you told us that you directed your management to:

"...investigate, study, and follow up on the items included in that report, and we instructed them to report back on where they agreed and where they didn't.”

Was a formal report generated out of that process?  And I am not talking about the internal audit directions, but it was the one to your senior management to investigate, study, and follow up.

     MR. VELS:  No, we do not have a formal report. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Is there anything that you can provide us that arose out of that process?  

     MR. VELS:  Not at this point.  We are very close to some of the scheduled completion of those initiatives and haven't had a chance to review those with our senior management yet.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And another thing following up from yesterday, you mentioned the capital variance account.  And can you just remind me:  Are you proposing to keep that account in place?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, we are.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  And you also referred to that as potentially involving a penalty of the company.  And I would just like to clarify that.  It's my understanding that the purpose of that account is, to the extent that you spend less on capital, less than what you said you would, that the money is returned to customers.  Is that your understanding of how the account works?  

     MR. VELS:  I will let my regulatory expert answer that ‑-

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  I figured that was --


MR. VELS:  -- using the correct terminology. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Just to confirm, the actual arrangement is, to the extent that we place less in service --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. HUBERT:  -- than is committed to, that money -- the associated revenue requirement would be returned to customers.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I think Mr. Vels returned -- he referred to that as a penalty yesterday.  Can you help me understand how that could be a penalty?

     MR. VELS:  Well, we would have recovered -- or recovered our monies in revenues that we were not entitled to, and maybe the word "penalty" is a little harsh, but we would have to give the money back, and -- 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just wanted to clarify that. 

     MR. VELS:  Yeah.  So it does penalize our income statement, I guess, would be my perspective, but it is more correctly described as returning the money to our customers. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's fine.


Now, if you could refer to the proposed transmission regulatory scorecard, and that's found in many places, but it's on page 66 of the SEC compendium.  If we could maybe pull that up.  It's actually the other one.  It's the proposed trans -- that's right, the colourful one.  

     MR. VELS:  This is Exhibit B2, tab 1, Schedule 1?  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  So I am trying to understand here the asset management metrics and the cost control metrics and why, from your perspective, you think these are meaningful metrics.  

     MR. VELS:  Sure.  So I assume you are referring to, for example, under asset management, in-service additions as a percentage of the OEB-approved plan?

     MS. GIRVAN:  Yes. 

     MR. VELS:  And then following from there? 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  

     MR. VELS:  Our thinking on the ISB additions as a per cent of the OEB-approved plan is it goes to excellence of execution.  So we have put a great deal of thought into our capital investment plan, including, you know, all of the engineering to ensure proper estimates but, in particular, the timing of putting that capital in place.


And over the course of the period, it's important for our customers that that capital is put in place as we committed to.  So we hold our management internally responsible, and we think it's fair to report to the public and to the OEB how well we did against that metric. 


So if we put 100 per cent of the capital that we committed to in place and in service within the period, we would consider that to be a success. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  So, for example, if you say you were putting $100 million in service -- that was your budget, and that's what you did -- what if you spent that money on different things or you spent that money less efficiently?  How does that translate?  

     MR. VELS:  Those are two questions, and they are good ones.  Firstly -- and if Mr. Penstone has anything to add on the first element -- we do manage our capital investment and our asset needs on a portfolio basis.  Going into the beginning of a rate filing process, we certainly have a plan.  Unexpected conditions of our assets or failures or demand work can at times change that, and we do expect that we should, as stewards of the assets, react to that.


So there may well at times be substitutions made or an alternative plan put in place in the short-term.  And we need to make those types of judgments.  However, we have been provided a revenue requirement that is linked to the amount of assets put in service.  So we endeavour to put the same assets in service, of course, that we have planned, but given the complexity of the system, that's not always possible. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Do you plan to track the in-service additions as percentage of the OEB-approved plan by category, so sustainment, development, et cetera?
     MR. VELS:  That metric is tracked in total, and any variations, material variations, in the in-service plan, are highlighted and discussed in our regular operational meetings, but the metric itself is on a total basis. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And -- 

     MR. VELS:  Secondly -- I am sorry.

     MS. GIRVAN:  No, go ahead. 

     MR. VELS:  Secondly, you questioned how efficiencies tie into that, and I do agree with you that putting assets in place on an inefficient basis isn't good for anybody.  And this metric, in-service capital as a percentage of the OEB approval, is not necessarily going to capture efficiency initiatives -- 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That was really my -- 

     MR. VELS:  -- in and of itself.  As a result, we have other measures that we put in place and that we track against at the operating level related to the efficiency of our capital work.

And, you know, the nature of scorecards and the nature of KPIs is it requires a balance, because not every KPI and not every scorecard item is going to be able to capture all of the behaviour you want to drive.  So it is always going to be a combination of metrics that you have to use to drive your business. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you would agree with me that this particular metric doesn't really create an incentive for you to spend less and spend more efficiently? 

     MR. VELS:  In isolation, I think is a fair comment. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, how does this work?  You indicated that these type of metrics are part of your compensation and your individual score cards.  And I guess my question is -- and maybe this is better placed, better asked, when we actually can see those.  But, for example, how does the interplay between transmission and distribution work?  

So, for example, what if your -- the metrics that you have set out in transmission, you achieve favourable, I guess, results on the transmission side, but you don't on the distribution side.  How does that interplay work?  

     MR. VELS:  This might be best answered if we could pull up the 2016 team scorecard that was presented on the presentation day.  I just don't recall the reference, K something, I believe. 

     MR. HUBERT:  K1.4, perhaps? 

     MR. VELS:  I think so.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Girvan, while we are dealing with that, the reference that you are looking for regarding the governance agreement is Exhibit I-2-6, Attachment 1.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  

     MR. VELS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So this is the 2016 Hydro One team scorecard.  When we -- subject to any changes by our board, I believe the 2017 one is going to have a very similar construction. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, is this – oh, this has distribution and transmission on it.  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  So if you have a look at the work program element, which is 25 per cent of the weighting, two of the items in there are transmission in-service capital and distribution in-service capital. 


So if -- and the targets at the maximum compensation payout for transmission is $910 million for the year, and distribution is $622 million. 


To answer your question, those are independent metrics.  So if we were to be more than -- I think it's about 6 per cent off the distribution in-service capital, for example, all of the management would be paid zero.  However, if the management did achieve the transmission in-service capital, they would be paid on that particular metric.  


So they are all separate.  They are weighted by percentages, and you can hit on one and miss on another, and they are independently calculated and tracked to your compensation.  I hope that was clear.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So, for example, I am looking at the distribution pole replacement. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  The measure is the number of poles? 

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  So what we attempted to do in this case was to ensure -- and the behaviour we wanted to drive when we put the team scorecard together was to ensure that our staff completed the work commitments that they had committed to with the OEB.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  But unit cost is not a metric included in this?

     MR. VELS:  That's a progression that we are looking at for this year, and we will either have unit cost targets, for example, for pole replacement, either included on the team scorecard or, alternatively, in the individual scorecards for the management that are responsible for that area. 


So, again, to the combination of metrics, we need to have a metric that incentivizes people to complete the work program and put the number of assets in place that they committed to, and then we would supplement that, add a another metric which requires them to do it as efficiently and as cheaply as possible -- or as low cost as possible, I guess -- and they would have both of those metrics on their individual scorecards for sure, and they would work to achieve both of them. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But that hasn't been fully developed yet? 

     MR. VELS:  We are developing it for 2017. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  And there are transmission related efficiency metrics in our 2017 scorecards. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can I just turn now to the issue of productivity, and this is something I think for Mr. Hubert.  

At the technical conference, at page 89 of the transcript, you and I had a discussion, Mr. Hubert, about productivity numbers in your budgets.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I do.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And you said to me that -- I asked where there is anywhere in the evidence a breakdown of all of the productivity numbers that you have built into your budget, and you said, “I don't believe there is anything more detailed than this.” 


We had an exchange, and you ended up filing Exhibit TCJ1.17, and, in that, you’ve set out what you are saying are the current embedded -- currently embedded in the investment plan and the following savings. 


Can you help me understand how these numbers are derived?  

     MR. VELS:  Sorry, I was just moving -- getting to the exhibit. 


So the question is:  of the numbers that are on Exhibit TCJ1.17, how did we derive the numbers?  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, yes.  

     MR. VELS:  Well, for example, for procurement, we challenged our procurement group to segment all of their procurement activity and the assets and the services that they procure and identify potential opportunity in those asset classes.  And then, through a combination of either changes in process, for example, on RFPs or systems, or negotiating techniques, they have isolated certain elements that they believe they can improve and purchase at a lower cost for 2017 and 2018, and they do have projections that go beyond that.  They committed to a certain level of improvements and savings in those areas and those commitments that they have made, and, where they have shown us that they have plans to achieve them, have been included in the relevant cost drivers and in the relevant cost centres in the company.  

So whilst our procurement group is responsible for doing the work to achieve the improvement, the cost centre owner will receive and is accountable for delivering the benefit. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Are these processes already in place?  

     MR. VELS:  Some are and some are not.  We made some immediate changes and, in fact, have driven some benefit already in processes.  In particular, we made some changes to become a little more commercial in the way some of our contracts are tendered.  There are some potential opportunities, for example, to combine procurement, where we can actually enter into a strategic relationship with a vendor and sometimes potentially sole-source contracts, whereas, previously, the requirement might have been to separate those procurement contracts, tender them out, and not gain the opportunity of combined buying or a strategic relationship and discounts associated with commitment we can make to them. 


So those types of processes and those types of changes are ongoing.  That's a long-term process, but many of those changes have been made. 


We have some system changes that I have actually used before and are a way to leverage the SAP system we have.  Those are planned to be installed in 2017, and some of these benefits that are outlined in this schedule would come from usage of those systems which are not yet installed, but there are plans to put them in place. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So is this the total -- does this represent the total productivity savings that are embedded in your budgets?  

     MR. VELS:  These are the ones that we have identified and quantified.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So could you turn to page 3 of the same exhibit, please?  Can you help me understand what the numbers mean on this chart?  Are these numbers the ones that are used to develop the numbers on the first page?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  So, for example, as I mentioned, the procurement group would have isolated, for example, in fleet, and based on an assessment of how they currently purchase, they would have provided an estimate, which ultimately we turned into a dollar commitment, as to how much they believe they can save relative to the total fleet purchases.


In this case, their potential savings on a percentage basis were between 5 and 7 per cent of the total purchase.  They would have then translated that into how much they think they can achieve by year 16, 17, 18, and forward, and the commitments that they've made to us for 17 and 18 are included in this rate filing. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  So when it says "renegotiate fleet management contract,” has that already been done?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't have that answer at my fingertips, I am afraid, and we can -- we do have a panel on productivity coming up, and they would be able to answer that question for you. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  


So just so I can be clear, these numbers were used to develop the numbers on page 1?  

     MR. VELS:  It was -- yes, it was one of the inputs. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, do you see the potential for further savings in 2017 and '18 beyond the ones that you have identified here?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, we have pushed our management to commit to certain numbers.  Our -- I guess the culture of the new management team is we would consider that to be a commitment that we expect our management to meet, but then we would challenge them very aggressively to beat them.  


So we always believe you can do better.  I can't point to any particular area where I believe these numbers should be larger, but when we get to 2017 and '18 and we challenge our procurement group, for example, as to how they could do better than these numbers, our expectation would be that they would work harder and work smarter and find ways to beat them.


We don't have any information at this stage to say that these numbers should be higher, but we are going to be pushing our groups to make them higher. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Just a follow-up on yesterday, you had a discussion about the commercialization of your company, and I am trying to understand.  Now that you have private shareholders, how do you balance their expectations about enhanced returns and the desires of your customer base to keep rate levels down?  

     MR. VELS:  The process that we go through to identify our asset plans and our efficiencies do start -- the conversations start with, firstly, the needs of the assets and the needs and preferences of our customers.  Beyond that, if we can find ways to improve on efficiencies or find other ways to improve our earnings within the rate filing envelopes that we have been provided, we see that as our job.


It's ultimately during that rate filing process -- it is beneficial to shareholders, ultimately beneficial to customers, when we rebase the numbers.  But our primary expectation and the expectation of our shareholders is to earn our return on equity.


And that's how they value our company, and that is, from my perspective, what I expect from our management group.  Any efficiencies or improvements we can make to the system over and above that, to the extent that they increase our earnings during a rates period, is positive.  Ultimately the expectation, though, is that they would be returned to customers, and our shareholders understand that. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  So you are saying to the extent that you overearn during this period, you are going to return that money to your customers?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, no.  The way the -- I mean, the way the system works is we are going to come back in 2019, and we are going to rebase our costs.  If we have managed to improve on these efficiencies and we, in fact, have lower costs and lower costs per unit, that would be reflected in our next rate filing and would, by definition, reduce the impact on our customer bills. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I thought you were saying you were proposing earnings sharing during that time. 

     MR. VELS:  No.  What I said is, during the period, the benefits in the cost of service, to the extent that we can deliver our work programs more efficiently than what we have set out here, is to the company's benefit.  Beyond that, those reduced costs and efficiencies would be returned to customers in the next rate filing. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you. 


So Mr. Stephenson touched on this a bit, but as you are well aware, every day in the news there is comments and complaints about hydro rates and hydro bills going up, and, I mean, we recognize that it's the consolidated bill, and there is lots of elements that are contributing to that. 


But I just wanted to try to understand.  As a corporation, what's your strategy in terms of trying to address these concerns?  

     MR. VELS:  We have had material discussions on these concerns at -- all the way through the company and particularly at the board of directors level.  We have, as I mentioned, modelled and estimated the impact on the total customer bill, because it is important to understand the context in which we are asking for revenue.  And it would be fair to say that the increases outside of our impact on the bill appear to be significant.


At the same time, we have to invest in our assets, and we have to ensure that our investments are prudent and appropriate and meet our customers' needs and preferences.  As Mr. Penstone has outlined, we have an aging fleet and a deteriorating fleet, and so the amount of investment that we need to make is increasing rates for our customers.


So our approach to that has been, from a transmission perspective, is ensure that we are only putting in service the assets that we need to put in service to be proper stewards of the assets, i.e., find ways to either defer or reduce our capital spend to the point at which we still believe we can look after the system and run the system responsibly, and then, secondarily, we need to find ways to deliver our service more efficiently and at significantly less cost. 


We understand, as I mentioned previously, that those efficiencies and those cost reductions will mitigate the bill impact.  Those efficiencies and cost reductions will ultimately be returned to our customers.


We, as a -- we take it very seriously in our delivery charge element of the bill that whilst that delivery charge, particularly in the transmission system -- and we do look at distribution and transmission a little differently -- particularly in the transmission system is going to go up, because we cannot neglect the assets.  

At the same time, we have to show both the OEB and our customers that we are delivering these services as efficiently as possible and, in fact, point to ways that we have mitigated the bill impact. 


We believe we have done that in this transmission application, and we are going to continue to do that.  And I am hoping, as we get more traction on our efficiency, both on capital and OM&A, that we do an increasing -- or secure an increasing and larger bill mitigation as we go forward.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Hubert, just briefly, I would just like to understand the sort of regulatory schedule, both with respect to transmission and distribution.  So we are setting rates here potentially for two years.  What's the next step with respect to transmission?  

     MR. HUBERT:  So, according to the filing requirements, this would be our last pure cost-of-service application, and our next application would fall under the multi-year renewed regulatory framework, IRM framework, which means it would be, as a minimum, a five-year application. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  So you will be applying for a custom incentive regulation?

     MR. HUBERT:  I cannot say at this moment it will be custom, but that is certainly one of the three options available to us.  That’s very likely, but that would be the subject of our next application in 2019. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  You might consider a price cap? 

     MR. HUBERT:  We will consider all the options that are available to us. 

     MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Ms. Blanchard, with your indulgence, we will take an early break this morning, if that’s all right, and return at about ten after eleven. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  

--- Upon recess at 10:46 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:14 a.m. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Please be seated.


Ms. Blanchard.  

Cross-Examination by Ms. Blanchard:

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning. 


Good morning, panel.  I am just going to pick up on a few things that have been touched on over the last day and a half, and where I want to start is just, I want to follow through your business planning chronology.  And I think, Mr. Vels, yesterday you mentioned to us that, in 2015, there was a draft business plan that was in progress.


So if I could just ask you to pull up -- and I think I have mentioned it already, but if you could just pull up CME IR Response No. 2, and that's the prospectus that was issued in October -- at the end of October 2015, and if I could just take you to page 6 of that total document. 


So just scroll down about four pages, and there is -- sorry, it's in the CME IR response.  So that's Exhibit I, tab 9, Schedule 2, Attachment 1.  And just scroll down a little bit further.  Yeah, that page. 


So this material was issued at the end of October, and it was included in the prospectus, and if you look down at the bottom left --  maybe we could zoom in on there -- we are showing a projected capital expenditures for the years 2015 through 2019.  So if you could just take a look at those.  I am assuming that part of this draft business planning exercise that would have happened in the run-up to the IPO at the end of October would be reflected here.


And if you look at the table, which is in the bottom left, it's broken out -- that projected capital expenditures is broken up between distribution and transmission.


So am I right in thinking that your business planning process in 2015 would have informed what you were projecting at the end of October 2015?  

     MR. VELS:  The approach we took, given the timing of the IPO, was -- and the way we outlined these forecasts to shareholders and prospective shareholders is these were the best estimates that were available to management at the time.


So it comprised a combination of revenue requirements and capital expenditures that had already been included in rate filings, for example, distribution in particular, for -- well, for both transmission and distribution, of course, and then the latest estimates that our management had based on the business planning that was in process at the time in terms of what they anticipated future capital needs to be.


And that was the best information that we had available to us when preparing the IPO, and that's the information that we used.  It was prior to completion or review of some of the sort of finalized or, you know, final recommendations. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  Okay.  But you will agree with me, though, looking here, that, at the time, your best information was that capital expenditures were actually going to decline for transmission between 2015, a peak of 899 million in 2015, declining down to 832 million in 2019?  

     MR. VELS:  That is what's reflected there.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So that's sort of end of October.  And then I think probably the next -- the next indication that we have of where the projected capital expenditures are, are found in the application.  And so that's at Exhibit A.  And I think Mr. Rubenstein took you there yesterday, Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1.


And, at this point, we are showing now some significant increases in capital expenditures, particularly relating to the sustaining, and I think we have talked about that at some length over the last couple of days. 


But this is where we are in July of 2016; is that accurate?  And today this is what's before the Board?  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So then the next document I want to take you to is -- I would like to just sort of understand on a practical basis how this business planning is working with your -- in your decision-making process, and I would like to look specifically at a project that I understand was approved in August of 2016, so after this material was filed, and that relates to the Martindale transformer station.  So that was one of the projects that you looked at in August of 2016; is that correct?  And I have the document reference, so we'll pull it up so that we are all looking at the same thing. 


So perhaps, Mr. Penstone, you can just tell us what this document is. 

     MR. VELS:  Can we just confirm the document reference?  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes, it was part of the additional filing, so it doesn't really have -- but if you scroll back another page, you will see the title page of the document.  So it was -- my understanding is that this is a report to the board of directors recommending an investment. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, this was part of the additional evidence that was filed by Hydro One in response to the motions decision.  And I don't believe we have an exhibit yet for that.  And it probably -- Ms. Blanchard, if you are going to be referring to it, I think it probably would be beneficial for that document to be given or assigned an exhibit number. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Absolutely.  I think we are at K1.7, are we?  

     MR. MILLAR:  No.  We're at -- it's K2.1 now. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  K2.1, sorry. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Now, so that's the document -- just this document within that filing, I take it?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  My suggestion, subject to Mr. Millar's thoughts, is that the letter and the attachment, the additional evidence as a whole, be given the K2.1 reference, and if there is a reference that we need to make inside the document, particularly to this, then we can do that, but you will recall it's over a 200-page submission that we made. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I do recall, yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we will proceed that way. 

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  NOVEMBER 10, 2016 PACKAGE OF EVIDENCE IN RESPONSE TO THE MOTION DECISION
     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  All right.  So I am going to take you to page 88 of that total document.  But I think I was just asking Mr. Penstone if you could confirm what this document is.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's a business case summary that's used within Hydro One to authorize expenditures. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.


So if you could just take us to page 4, now, of that document, and we are looking at the costs here.  And I am just going down to the second paragraph.  Oh, we skipped -- sorry.  Yeah, no, here we are, so it's total -- page 88 of the total document, page 4 of this report.

And the second paragraph under the chart refers to an approved 2016 budget and indicates that the investment was included in the 2017 to 2022 business plan with total funding of 69.4 million; do you see that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I do. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So I guess my first question is:  This 2017 to 2022 business plan, is this the draft business plan that was prepared in 2015?  

     MR. VELS:  I think the conclusion would need to be that that was the work that had been finished by the asset investment group, and they were terming that their business plan, so it would have been all of the work that had been completed and was included in the drafts that they had prepared up to the end of November.  That would be correct. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So it's not a business plan, it's...

     MR. VELS:  Well, as I mentioned yesterday, the business had followed their process as usual and had prepared a draft business plan by November of 2015.  We did not approve that business plan and -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Can you just keep scrolling this?  

     MR. VELS:  Thank you.  I have just been corrected by Mr. Penstone.  I was getting mixed up on the dates. 


So the reference to the business plan in this document, as he informs me, is the work that we had completed and that is included in the transmission rate application.  So that work and the finalization and the inclusion of that work in this transmission rate application is what the business is talking about when they talk about business plan.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So is this the same business plan that will be approved or taken to your board on December 2nd?  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So when I see this reference here -- I just want to make sure I am absolutely clear.  The 2017 to 2022 business plan is what we anticipate the board will be approving, or at least will be reviewing, on December 2nd?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And so there is a number in there of 69.4 million, and the decision in August of 2016 is to increase that number to 75.8 million.  Is that correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  And so that increase, that incremental spend, that is not included in the business plan right now; is that correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  For that specific project, that's correct.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Does that mean it's not in the rate application either?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the project is in the application, and, Ms. Blanchard, I’d refer you to, I think, the second paragraph on the screen, and, in particular, to the second sentence in that paragraph -- 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  -- where we basically say that the additional funding required will be redirected from other projects to enable the other all capital expenditures to remain within the total approved envelope.  


So when we develop our investment plan and all of the investments that comprise it, it produces what is referred to as a capital envelope.  That capital envelope is essentially the numbers that you referenced earlier in terms of here is the current request.  

There were occasions when we develop our investment plan where the initial estimates are not entirely accurate. This is, in fact, the case here, and it's acknowledged that that incremental $6 million for this project, we will have to be making adjustments to other projects or redirecting work to stay within the total.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So by the time I get to, I guess, July of 2016, I have -- your capital envelope is set.  And, at that point, if you are looking at incremental increases, you are looking at taking away from other projects?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So, again, the -- I don't want to unnecessarily say taking away.  There can be other projects whose initial costs were overestimated, and that's always a consideration that we need to -- we recognize we have to stay within that capital envelope -- 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  -- and the increase in this particular project may be offset by reductions in others. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Sso just keeping with the capital envelope, at the end of October 2015, the best information that the Board has about the capital envelope for 2017 is this 848 million that was in the prospectus; correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That was what Mr. Vels has previously confirmed. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So at some point between the end of October 2015 and July of 2016, when Exhibit A is filed, the capital envelope changes.  Is that correct?  You are changing your projected capital spend, and that's the relevant period.  So at some point between the end of October 2015 and July of 2016, it's about a nine-month period. 

     MR. VELS:  As I mentioned, we did a very material amount of work between December 2015 and May 2016 to investigate all aspects of the process that the company followed, the results that had been generated, and, ultimately, based on that investigation and further work, we ended up with new information and, by definition, new numbers that were included in this transmission rate application filing. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I think, at this point, I would like to take you back to an exhibit that we have looked at a few times.  Again, I apologize, but it's the response to BOMA IR 36.  And if you just pull it up so that we are all looking at it.  It’s Exhibit 1, tab 2, 36.  

So this is talking about the public consultation process, and we will save the questions about the consultation for the next panel.  But the question was asked -- you did this public consultation.  I understand the report is dated April 2016.  

So, in April 2016, you have the results of that public consultation, and based on that result, you make some changes to the capital envelope.  Is that accurate?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We reflected the outcome of those consultations into our investment plan, and that investment plan then leads into our business plan.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So your first -- the first paragraph, the numbered paragraph, says you increased overall sustainment capital program.  So there was an increase.  
So my question to you is:  What was the number before you went into the public consultation, and what was the number after?  So I’ve got this 848 million, for example, for 2017, in the capital envelope at the end of October, and then a large amount of work was done, as Mr. Vels told us.  But based on this April 2016 report, you increased the number.  So can you give me the before and after for the sustainment capital program?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So we didn't have a plan before the consultations occurred; the plan was set after the consultations.  There were adjustments made in the investments that we were contemplating, you know, candidate investments, and this summarizes adjustments that were made as a result of the customer consultations.  


So we had a number of candidate investments.  We had them planned to occur at particular periods.  As a result of the consultations, the adjustments that were described here were made. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  But the answer to the IR is that you increased overall sustainment capital.  So that suggests to me that you had a number before -- or you had a number of projects before, and then you increased the number of projects.  How can you increase something without adding a project or adding an expenditure?  

     MR. PENSTONE:   I would suggest that, for the level of information you are looking for in detail, that that could be addressed and answered by the planning panel.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I am prepared to ask them detailed questions, but I am assuming that you would have some sense of what the word "increase" means here specifically. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the short answer to that is I don't.  I see the responses here.  I am not in a position to be able to quantify the exact amounts or adjustments that resulted from the customer consultations.  I can't do that right now.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Would you be able to tell me whether it was a material increase?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  This goes back to a comment that I made to Mr. Rubenstein in terms of what constitutes "material,” and I am not in a position to be able to -- as I mentioned earlier, I cannot tell you what the quantum was on either  -- any of these investments. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I just want to make sure I have my -- so I have -- we went from 848 in October 2015 to -- let me just make sure I get the number right -- a billion 76.1 in 20 -- in the actual application.  So we are looking at approximately -- my math will fail me here, but a $300 million difference in that nine-month period, so was that $300 million -- how much of that -- can you give me a sense of whether a lot of that came out of the consultation, or...  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, I can tell you that the consultation did not result in $300 million of additional investments.  And, remember, the consultations were a series of illustrative scenarios.  The adjustments -- the subsequent adjustments are described here, and, at this time, I can't tell you the exact quantum of those adjustments. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Can you tell me whether the adjustments were primarily in lines work?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Again, Ms. Blanchard, I'd prefer to have the facts in front of me, the exact amounts. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  And just to your point, Mr. Vels indicated there was a considerable amount of work done in  -- between January and the time that this filing was made in many, many aspects of our business, including the asset management function.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, obviously this is an important area, but Mr. Penstone has indicated on several occasions that the level of detail regarding the specific reasons or justification for the change of -- I believe it's 228 million, actually, if my math is correct, but point taken that this is obviously an area -- I think the witness has indicated the desire to have this area moved to the planning panel, because that is the area -- that is the panel of witnesses that is intended to speak to these more detailed issues.  And, at the outset, as we said, this panel is here to deal with enterprise strategy, so if -- it strikes me that, if we can move the issue and it's relevant to the other panel, I think that would be helping the process move along. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  I think that would probably be acceptable, but I do note that this is Mr. Penstone's IR response here, so it's not surprising that Ms. Blanchard would be putting the questions to Mr. Penstone on this area, but to the fact that we are going to the planning session and be prepared to deal with these in that framework, I think, makes sense.


Ms. Blanchard, is that okay?

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I am happy to leave it, but I am telling you now that my question is going to be how much increased as a result of the consultation.  Where were you in April 1, 2016, and where were you after that process in May?

Okay.  So I am moving on.  So -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Thank you for giving me my weekend homework.  [Laughter]

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I just have one more area, really, and I would like to refer to the Hugessen report, not because I want to get into compensation in any significant depth, but I think there is a useful summary on page 3 of that report, if you could just pull it up, which will just help give some structure to this next couple of questions. 

     MR. VELS:  Could I just ask which report it is that you are referring to? 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I am in Attachment 1, so it's Exhibit -- well, we have got the -- so it's Schedule 57, Attachment 1, so this isn't the right -- oh, that's it?  Yes -- oh, yeah, that's it.  Okay.  Perfect. 


So I have pulled this up because, like many of my friends, I am trying to get a grip on what has changed at Hydro One now that you are a public company.  And so this extract from the Hugessen report, it's my understanding that this is the information that the consultant who was hired to consider compensation for executives -- this is what he understood was the new Hydro One; is that accurate?  Based on the report?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Ms. Blanchard, you are asking the witnesses to confirm their understanding of what Mr. Hugessen, the author of this report -- 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I can rephrase the question. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  The expert has given a description of the new Hydro One.  Could you take a look at it and let me know whether you agree with this characterization?  And I can go through the bullets one by one.  There is only a couple that I am interested in -- 

     MR. VELS:  Sorry, are you asking me to agree that that is what he is saying --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, do you agree --


MR. VELS:  -- or are you asking for our opinion on his points?  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  I am asking you whether you would agree that these six bullets represent aspects of the new Hydro One which were not relevant to the pre-IPO Hydro One.  

     MR. VELS:  I think these are his opinion --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay. 


MR. VELS:  -- of -- and it's an independent report.  We didn't pen it or agree with it.  It's his opinion of what he would distinguish a new Hydro One to be.  Exactly what he would have meant or what was in his mind when he wrote it, I can't speculate on.  


What I can tell you is, for example, that we would believe that we do have a mandate to make this business more efficient, and I think you have heard significant amount of discussion from myself and my colleagues that, in fact, that is a primary focus of the new management.  Whether you would characterize that as, you know, there was no desire to be more efficient in the old Hydro One and this is a completely new direction, I wouldn't say that.  
So, I mean, I am not trying to hedge or be cute.  All I am saying is a very wide question that says, “Do you agree with a report and some comments that another independent professional has penned?” -- I have no issue discussing each of the points with you --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So let's --


MR. VELS:  -- and providing our perspective on how we are running the company.  Beyond that, I really don't want to make opinions or speculate on what he thought or what he was thinking when he wrote this. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Understood.  Why don't I take you to the second bullet, then, and the second bullet says that the new Hydro One expects to be a consolidator in the industry. 


Now, what does that mean to you?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, I can tell you that one of our business objectives as a distribution company in Ontario is that we do agree and expect that there are efficiencies to be had in the distribution of electricity through consolidation of LDCs.  So we are engaged in and do expect that we will purchase at the right price and under the right circumstances LDCs in Ontario, and we will be able to demonstrate and, in fact, have done so with some of our recent acquisitions that we are going to drive efficiencies through the system. 


So that would be one our business objectives related to acquisitions and consolidation.  And in terms of how that point is phrased, I would expect that that was probably what he was referring to. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  So there is no -- there is no -- that would relate only to the distribution side of the business?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, we currently operate approximately 99 per cent of the transmission in the province.  So, by definition, I just don't think there is much more consolidation to be done.  Actually, if I can correct that, I think it's 98 per cent.

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  The last bullet says that you'll not be under legislative compensation constraints.  It's my understanding that that is because Hydro One is not subject to legislation that applies to other Crown corporations which limit the amount of compensation that's payable to executives. 

     MR. VELS:  I think it's a fair assumption that that might be what he meant. 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  You know, I am going to actually leave that for the compensation panel.  


I guess my last question, then, is the new Hydro One will have a fully independent professional board.  And so could you explain to me how that's different from the before board?

     MR. VELS:  I don't feel equipped to provide a great deal of detail on the prior board.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  But, clearly, with many of the directives and other influence of the sole shareholder in place, there was an element of government influence or provincial influence on the decisions of the company.  I think that would probably be a fair assumption.  

I have not spent much time working through or thinking about what those might have been or if they, in fact, occurred. 

The agreement that we have in place today, in fact a requirement under the governance agreement, is that our board of directors, with the exception of the CEO, must be independent according to the definitions of the relevant Securities Acts and other guidance.  

But, in addition to that, there are further independent requirements that are specified whereby the directors of the company have to also be fully independent of the Province of Ontario, and there are a variety of definitions that would support what that would mean. 

So that is the intention, and that is the fact that exists today.  

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I think that will be it for me this morning on this panel.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Ms. Blanchard.  

Questions by the Board:

     DR. ELSAYED:  Before I ask my question, is this mic working okay?  I was using the other one yesterday, and it was awkward to look at the panel and speak at the same time.

My question is just a clarification question related to the discussion we had yesterday about the business plan.  You had a draft business plan in 2015.  You have a draft -- you have a business plan going to the board in December 2nd.  The information that is in your application before the Board, is that based -- which business plan is it based on?  

     MR. VELS:  The application that is before the Board and the information in that application is based on a combination of the work that the business had done in 2015 through the usual planning process and then incremented or added to through the work that we did between December and May.  

So to specifically answer your question, I think the correct characterization would be that the rate filing is based on the prior draft business plan and work that we had done between December and May, and the rate application itself is consistent with the business plan that we plan to file with the board on December 2nd. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  So to be more specific about the capital investment, for example, would it be fair to say that the proposed capital investment in your application is consistent with what is going to the board on December 2nd?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, it is. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Ms. DeMarco?

Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, panel.  And I realize how precious your time is, so I will try and be as discrete and succinct as possible.  My areas of focus this morning are threefold.  The first is in relation to Hydro One's relationship with First Nations and indigenous peoples.  The second is in relation to, at a high level, the customer engagement and stakeholder consultation process.  And the third, I think, are largely clarifications in and around reliability.  As part of the second, I also will ask largely clarification questions in and around the scorecards, because I am finding myself confused.  

Safe to say that the business objectives of the company do emphasize customer focus and customer satisfaction.  Is that fair?  

     MR. HUBERT:  That's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, quite precisely, you intend to improve levels of customer satisfaction. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  We do have a compendium of documents which are largely yours, but just to assist us all, I wonder if we might have that filed as an exhibit. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, we will call that Exhibit K2.2.  It is the Anwaatin compendium for Panel 1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  ANWAATIN COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Just while we are on that -- and excuse me, Ms. DeMarco.  
Ms. Blanchard, you have a compendium as well.  I don't know if you referenced it this morning, but should we mark it now? 

     MS. BLANCHARD:  That would be useful.  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So, Mr. Chair, we will call that Exhibit K2.3.   I note it's CME's compendium for Panels 1, 2, and 3, so it will be coming up again. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you. 

EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  CME COMPENDIUM FOR PANELS 1, 2, AND 3

     MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Ms. DeMarco. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, streamlining, you were asked yesterday -- or examined yesterday on the importance of meeting your four main business objectives to the company.  Is that correct?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Can you be more specific about that question?  I didn't understand the reference.  I am sorry. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, yesterday you were asked about how important it was for the company to meet its business objectives.  

     MR. HUBERT:  I don't recall that question, but can we proceed?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let me ask it anew.  Is it important for the company to meet its business objectives? 

     MR. HUBERT:  Absolutely. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  All right.  I know it has been a long day for all of us.  And in particular, the objective related to customer service; is that fair? 

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, it is. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you to turn to tab 15 of our compendium, which is Exhibit C 1, tab 3, Schedule 3, page 11 of your evidence -- sorry, tab 14.  


At page 11 of Exhibit C, tab 3, Schedule 3, you state that:

“Building relationships with First Nations communities based upon trust, confidence, and accountability is vital to achieving Hydro One's business objectives.”

     Do I have that right?  

     MR. VELS:  We are just having a bit of trouble finding it in the -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   It’s the very last page in the compendium. 

     MR. HUBERT:  I am sorry, Ms. DeMarco.  You were reading something from here? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, at page 11, I am quoting here.  It says in the second sentence:

“Building relationships with First Nations and Métis communities based upon trust, confidence, and accountability is vital to achieving Hydro One's business objectives.”

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I see it, and I am up to speed again.  Thank you. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you agree that that is the case?  

     MR. HUBERT:  I do.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And very specifically, I am going to ask you to turn to tab 7 now.  In fact, on July 12th of this year, there was an agreement in principle to sell up to 2.5 per cent of Hydro One Limited's outstanding shares to promote stronger economic relations with First Nation's communities and promote healing and reconciliation with indigenous peoples; do I have that right?  

     MR. VELS:  So you are referring -- are you asking me was there a press release that said that from the Province?  The answer is, as outlined in the exhibit, that would be correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you would agree that the purpose of that was to promote stronger economic relationships with First Nations?  

     MR. VELS:  I can only confirm what the Province and the Minister of Energy has said in their press release.  This was a transaction between the Province of Ontario and First Nations.  We were not involved in that transaction, and the only information that I can confirm would be the information that is publicly available to any other person based on your perusal of public information. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.


No reason to assume that Hydro One's business objectives would be inconsistent with that action; is that fair?

     MR. VELS:  Inconsistent with the action or inconsistent with a goal to promote better relationships?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You have corrected me -- 

     MR. VELS:  Maybe you can just be more specific --

     MS. DeMARCO:  More precisely would be inconsistent with the goal of promoting stronger economic relations with First Nations communities?  

     MR. VELS:  So we have -- and I apologize for the paper.  Just a second.


So our goal is outlined in -- or our intention, I guess, as outlined in Exhibit C1, tab 3, Schedule 3, is:

"Building relationships with First Nations and Métis communities based on trust, confidence, and accountability."


The Minister of Energy has outlined, as you read this, a rationale for their decision, and that's their rationale.  Our goals and our business objectives are set out in our evidence. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So you would like to constrain your goals to the first quote that we have gone over; that's correct?

“Achieving Hydro One's business objectives, trust, confidence, and accountability"?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, I think I would like to have a conversation on our business objectives and our activities and not necessarily speculate on the intentions behind any activities of the government. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So let me rephrase my question, then, your specific activities.  There is no reason to assume that anything that Hydro One has as a goal or objective is inconsistent with promoting stronger economic relations with First Nations; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure that that's -- I'm not sure that's a valid question.  I think the question of economic relations and selling interests in a company and the work that we do with First Nations may have some overlap.  There may be some level of synergy, but it's a very broad question, and I don't think I can necessarily answer it. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  We will leave it.  I am satisfied that we have got your stated objectives. 


I am going to move on to tab 6 in our compendium, which is a response to Anwaatin Interrogatory No. 1.  And I just want to be clear on the record here that Hydro One did not, in fact, consult with First Nations on this application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  That is correct; we did not include First Nations groups in the customer engagements, as we spoke about earlier, nor in the stakeholder consultation. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So I want to be very precise on this point -- 

     MR. HUBERT:  And the reason -- okay.  I will tell you why I am being a little more specific here, because we do have many activities where we interact with First Nations, and it's at the project level; it's the community level, both on transmission and distribution businesses, so I do not want to make an unequivocal statement that says we did not speak to First Nations even on this application, because there are elements of this application that do reflect our ongoing relationship with First Nations. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's quite helpful.  Thank you, Mr. Hubert.


Can you provide to me any and all instances by way of undertaking where you did consult with First Nations in relation to this application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  In relation to specific projects and other areas of our business?  I will consult with my colleague for a moment.


Okay.  So I am not quite clear on the undertaking request here, but when there are projects that involve a need to discuss with First Nations the implications of that work that does occur, we probably could provide some examples of where that happens.


The application that is before the Board today reflects our obligation to conduct a customer engagement according with the filing requirements, so I am trying to differentiate the two elements of -- that you are referring to in consultation. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's precisely what I am a little confused about, so --


MR. HUBERT:  Right. 


MS. DeMARCO:  -- forgive me.  I am going to take you through this step by step if I can. 


On this application you have indicated that First Nations were not part of the customer engagement process; is that correct?

     MR. HUBERT:  I confirm that that's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  They were not part of the customer -- the stakeholder consultation process; is that correct?

     MR. HUBERT:  I confirm that as well, correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Was there any feedback in relation to specific drafts or elements of this application that First Nations were consulted on?  

     MR. HUBERT:  None that I am aware of related to specific drafts of this application, no. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Specific aspects of this application. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Specific underlying investments, perhaps, but I cannot cite any right now. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


I am going to ask you to turn to tab 1, if I can, of your application. 

And before I go there, Mr. Vels, I note your very significant qualifications.  You have been an officer of a public company before and have a very lengthy and impressive CV.  Is that fair to say?  [Laughter]

     MR. VELS:  I really like the way you are leading the witness here.  I have been an officer of public companies before; that's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much.  So I am going to talk a bit about your prospectus then very specifically, if I can.  And I am at tab 1, and I am going to -- the first reference is page 4 of your prospectus, where you speak to the risks that the company faces, and this second bullet on page 4 is the risk of claims by First Nations -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco --


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- we are just catching up here on the monitor, I think.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm talking the page 4 of the actual -- the page number 4 of the prospectus, which is the -- one, two, three pages into our compendium.  So the bottom of the page, it says "4".  

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 5. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  There we go, second bullet down -- you’ve gone too far.

You are talking about the risks to the company.  The second bullet is the risk of claims by First Nations and Métis communities related to sovereignty and jurisdiction over reserve and traditional territories or a perceived failure by the Crown to sufficiently consult a First Nations or Métis community; is that right?  

     MR. VELS:  That is correct; that's what it says. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's one of the significant risks you face.  Yes?  Yes?  

     MR. VELS:  As outlined, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thanks. 


And then I am on page 16 of the document, and Cary will help me out with the PDF page reference. 

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 7. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically in relation to the risk factors, again we have risks relating to Hydro One's business.  The second bullet is First Nations and Métis claims risk; is that fair?

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And then moving on to page 136 of the prospectus --

     MR. FERGUSON:  It's PDF page 13.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- You have a designated committee looking very specifically at environment, health, safety, and First Nations issues; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you have got the members of that committee, including Margaret Harris, George Cook, James Hinds, Catherine Jackson, Roberta Jamieson, and Gail Rubenstein.  Are those still the members of that committee?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, they are. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you tell me, are any of those directors Anishinaabek or members of First Nations communities?

     MR. VELS:  One of them, Roberta Jamieson, would be. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And very specifically, you indicate that that committee is looking at Hydro One's relationship with First Nations and Métis communities.
     MR. VELS:  That's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And can you tell me was that committee informed of your stakeholder engagement with First Nations communities in relation to this application?  

     MR. VELS:  We would have informed the -- I think the easiest way to answer, or the best way to answer the question is that all of the work that we performed, including customer consultations related to the transmission rate filing, were all intentionally managed at the board level.  It was a very significant and material activity.  The board wanted to make sure that they got it right, and there was no delegation of elements of the transmission system plan to committees. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So that committee of the board, then, it’s fair to say, was aware that First Nations were not consulted through the customer engagement process.  Is that right?  

     MR. VELS:  They would have been aware of what we did during our customer consultation process. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, by inference, they were aware of what you did not do?  

     MR. VELS:  That is a reasonable conclusion.  But as you can gather, I can't tell you that we had a -- if they did, whether or not they had a discussion on that matter.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I am now going to refer you to page 162 of the prospectus. 

     MR. FERGUSON:  That's PDF page 16 -- 14, excuse me.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And under the heading “Risks Relating to Other Applications to the Ontario Energy Board,” there is a whole section on First Nations and Métis claims risk.  You'd agree?  

     MR. VELS:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that's in part because several of your proposed transmission and distribution assets are, or may be, located on reserve lands and lands over which First Nations and Métis have an aboriginal treaty or other legal claims.  Is that right?

     MR. HUBERT:  Right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And following that section, you’ve got a whole section on risk from transfer of assets located on reserves?

     MR. HUBERT:  I see it, yes. 

     MR. VELS:  That's correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly, this is identified as a fairly significant risk sufficient enough to go into the prospectus.  Is that fair? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I am going on to page 165.  

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 15.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You have got a section relating to risks relating to asset condition and capital projects; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And in the second paragraph of that section, you indicate that:

“Execution of the company's capital expenditure programs, particularly for development capital expenditures, is partially dependent on external factors such as environmental approvals, municipal permits, equipment outage schedules that accommodate the IESO generators and transmission connected customers, and supply chain availability for equipment suppliers and consulting services.” 

And you go on to say:
“Approvals may also include Environmental Assessment Act Ontario approvals, which is require public meetings and appropriate engagement with First Nations and Métis communities.”
Is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  That is, in fact, what it says. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you'd agree that that's fair, that that's a risk?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, yes.  It's in our public disclosure.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And going on to page 172 --
     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 16. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- You again indicate at the bottom of the page:

“The risks of certain First Nations and Métis organizations bringing claims or proceedings in relation to the obligation or duty to consult.”  

Is that fair? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Moving on to page 173 of your prospectus -- 

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 17.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- you identify that:

“It is, nevertheless, possible that one or more First Nations or Métis organizations may commence legal proceedings in relation to this offering, seeking remedies that could include injunctive relief, damages, or rescission of this offering.”

Is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  I actually didn't realize where you were reading from.  I presume that it's -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I am at page 173, which is PDF 17. 

     MR. VELS:  I see that, yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is that fair?  Shall I repeat the sentence?

     MR. VELS:  No.  I remember it and I just read it.  Thank you. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So that’s a fairly grave risk, rescission of the offering.  You would agree?

     MR. VELS:  I am sorry.  What is a grave risk? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Rescission of the offering. 

     MR. VELS:  That would have been a material outcome. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Material outcome as distinct from a grave risk? 

     MR. VELS:  Well, it's a significant risk.  It's been identified in our prospectus as such, and we have outlined the potential, you know, of that risk to our shareholders. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I am going to move on to tab 2, which is your AIF, Annual Information Form.  

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 20.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the first page I would like to refer you to is page 23, which is -- 

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 22.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And very specifically, in the second paragraph, you refer to First Nations and Métis communities, and you indicate that:

“Hydro One is committed to working with First Nations and Métis communities in a spirit of cooperation and shared responsibility.”

Is that fair?

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  You also outline business relationships that you have with existing First Nations communities, specifically in the Bruce to Milton transmission line; is that fair?

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you go on to indicate that:

“The overarching First Nations and Métis relations policy and Hydro One's First Nations and Métis relations team provide guidance and advice to support the company in maintaining and developing positive relationships.”

Is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you tell me what, if any, guidance or advice did your First Nations and Métis relations team provide you in relation to your decision not to consult with First Nations communities through the stakeholder engagement and/or customer engagement processes?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't believe that I could give you details on that.  That's a very detailed question, and I don't have the answer at this time. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Are you aware of any advice provided by that team, Mr. Vels?  

     MR. VELS:  No, I am not. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Would one of you undertake to provide us with any advice that was given by that team in relation to customer engagement and the absence of First Nations communities?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, the trouble I have with that undertaking is that Ms. DeMarco had asked Mr. Hubert, at the beginning of this discussion, whether or not First Nations were part or were consulted or were included in the customer consultation in the stakeholder consultation process.  She received the answer that, no, they were not.  So I am not sure where we are going with this line of questioning.  She got the answer, and for Hydro One to now go into the level of detail that she is asking -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   I think we would be interested, Mr. Nettleton, because if the answer is the advice that they received is that they should, that's somewhat telling.  


So I think it's clear on the record that there wasn't a consultation.  I think Ms. DeMarco is attempting to determine was there advice to the contrary.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  I just want to be clear on what exactly it is that she is asking.  Is it the committee or is it the -- and I am trying to get the reference here.

Ms. DeMarco, could you please restate your question? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, I am happy to clarify that.  It's both, and I am looking at page 23 of the AIF, where you refer to Hydro One's First Nations and Métis relations team.  I am not sure if that's distinct from the committee, but I would be very interested in whether the board of directors committee and/or the First Nations and Métis relations team, if they are distinct entities, provided any guidance or advice in relation to the decision not to consult with First Nations in relation to the customer engagement and/or stakeholder engagement processes.  

     MR. HUBERT:  So, Ms. DeMarco, I am not aware of any advice I received not to consult nor to consult, to the best of my knowledge.  And, therefore, what I would like to do is take a moment to explain how we came to the decision.  Perhaps that would be helpful. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just before we move on, will you provide the undertaking to provide any and all advice that was given by either the team and/or the board of directors committee?  

     MR. HUBERT:  The one hesitation I have is, when you say "any and all advice", if that includes any oral, e-mail, official conversations, I can tell you that we will provide everything we have to the best of our knowledge, but -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's satisfactory.  Thank you.


Can we mark that as an undertaking?

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.1.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE ANY AND ALL ADVICE THAT WAS GIVEN BY EITHER THE TEAM AND/OR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMITTEE. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Page 18 of the AIF, PDF page number... 

     MR. FERGUSON:  Twenty-one.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  The third paragraph, last sentence, indicates that:

"The company also engages with First Nations and Métis communities whose rights may be affected as part of the project development process for new or upgraded transmission lines."


Is that fair in relation to this specific application?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's a fair commentary in terms of specific investments that we undertake, individual investments. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So in relation to this specific application, was there consultation in relation to any specific investment with First Nations communities?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I think the consultation or notification of First Nations communities regarding investments relates to when we are proceeding with the development activities relating to them.  So if we were to get approval and initiate an investment, that's when the consultation would occur on that specific activity or project.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So given that no approval has been granted yet in relation to this application, there has been no consultation; is that fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I'd -- no.  And the reason I say that is that this application includes investments that are already underway, and a good example of that was one that Ms. Blanchard brought up earlier about the Martindale station. 


So our practice is once we -- where we have a duty to consult, that's undertaken, and we comply when the Crown delegates that to Hydro One.  For instances where there is not a consultation obligation for specific projects, we, nevertheless, advise First Nations within which the project is in their traditional territories of our intention to proceed.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can you please provide me with the list of any and all communications where you have done precisely that?  Not in relation to the duty to consult, but rather in relation to proceeding with a project that involves First Nations?
     MR. PENSTONE:  The actual letters where we advise them?

MS. DeMARCO:  Absolutely.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  So can I ask the purpose and context behind the request as it relates to this particular application?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You have indicated that there are aspects of this application where you have consulted with specific First Nations, like the transformer station that you just spoke of, and we would like to see any and all communications that you have had in relation to this application. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it's projects within this application you are talking about, not the whole universe of projects?

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  And, Mr. Chairman, I think that's where there was a misunderstanding.  I think Mr. Penstone gave an example of the business case document that Ms. Blanchard had raised, and I don't -- if there was a misunderstanding that that was a project that was being carried out in respect of a reserve or a traditional territory of a First Nation, then I think that was the misunderstanding. 


What I think -- to Mr. Thompson's point, I think the question is as it relates to projects that are within First Nation territories or First Nation areas; is that fair, Ms. DeMarco? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's projects that are within this application, and to use Mr. Penstone's words, that affect or relate to First Nations outside of the duty to consult.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I think I would like to check the transcript in terms of my words.  I believe I stated that our practice is to advise First Nations when we are undertaking work within their traditional territories.

     MS. DeMARCO:  If I have misstated that, Mr. Penstone, my apologies.  All I would like to see is any and all communications that you have had precisely in relation to that as it relates to projects in this application.  Would you undertake to do that?  

     MR. VELS:  I think the scope of this request is very, very significant, and we don't know as a panel at this time how significant that request is, and I do not feel comfortable providing that undertaking at this time.  We have very significant and very frequent and material engagement with First Nations and Métis throughout all of our territories.  It relates to almost all of our activities.  We have a separate team, as you outlined, and a material amount of resources dedicated to this.


This request is very, very wide in scope, and I am not comfortable with taking that undertaking, because I am not sure that we can adequately comply. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I think we have got a bit of confusion regarding the scope of the undertaking here.  I understood Mr. Penstone to speak very specifically to investments within this application.  Did I get that right?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So it's investments that have been initiated that we are either already doing work or intending to do work, in other words, the projects have been launched.  It's not all of the investments that comprise this application.  So -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So just so that I am clear, you have only consulted with First Nations where there is work that has been commenced -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  So again, I want to be clear -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- not all work -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  -- we advise, as opposed to consult, because I believe "consultation" has a particular context.  We advise First Nations once approval has been made to proceed with a project, and that's within Hydro One.  There are projects within this application that have not been commenced, initiated, or approved within the company.  There are projects within this application where the work is underway.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So let me characterize your first category.  I am not going to mess up restating your words.  There would be no communications or advisement letters to First Nations?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't think we can authoritatively answer absolute questions like that.  There may be a letter, or there may be a communication with a First Nations community on any number of potential outcomes because we do engage, as opposed to consult, with First Nations communities on a regular basis. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So can I narrow the focus, to assist? 

     MR. VELS:  Well, I would appreciate that. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Penstone has just given us two categories.  Can you provide any and all letters that have been provided in relation to those two categories, letters to First Nations? 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I think what Mr. Vels' last testimony was, was that the engagement that Hydro One carries out with First Nations does not just take the form of letters.  What he said was he regularly -- or the company regularly engages with First Nations as part of its ongoing operations.  

So I am not sure that having to go through the step that Ms. DeMarco is asking of producing letters is necessarily reflective of the program of engagement that Hydro One carries out on a regular basis. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   I think that explanation could be provided at that time.  I think Ms. DeMarco is asking for letters, and I think we recognize that that is not illustrative of all the engagement that is going on.

And I think that Mr. Penstone has probably adequately described the nature of it, and I take your point, Mr. Penstone, that approval of a revenue requirement is not approval of a project.  So when we are approving revenue requirement for this, that is not a trigger that you have gone through yet.  It's on project specific basis, from what I understand, when they are going to be initiated and if there is an impact that you -- you have an internal trigger mechanism as to when you would contact and advise.  

So to the extent that I think we’ve got that captured, that anything that would be produced is not illustrative of anything which is contained in this application.  This is an application for a revenue requirement, not for project approvals, and I think that's an important characterization here.  

So I think that the scope that you are looking for, Ms. DeMarco, is anything that, as Mr. Penstone described it, any project that, if there is an advisement letter or a consultation letter -- and I have got a question after this on that consultation notion, but the notion of it perhaps work that is going to be captured by this application because there is ongoing spending, I would think -- I would ask Hydro One to consider that scope and whether or not -- and even if you take it under advisement on that scope, if that's satisfactory to you, Ms. DeMarco, and come back with an answer later, after the break or whatever. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's satisfactory to me. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So I understand you will take it under advisement?

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, we will.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   The one question, Mr. Penstone.  You mentioned it about the -- if you're delegated to take on the consultation, delegated from the province to have the required consultation and potentially accommodation, is anything in the governance letter of -- what has changed, if anything, with the governance letter with that notion of future delegation responsibilities in the new company?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, do you mean the governance agreement? 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Yes, sorry. 

     MR. VELS:  That was going to be my question. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Very good.  

     MR. VELS:  No, that did not alter or change any of the agreements that we would have had between the province and ourselves in terms of them delegating to us their duty to consult.  So there has been no change in our practices regarding that. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I am now going to ask you to turn to tab 3 of our book of authorities, and very specifically I am looking at the annual report of Hydro One for 2015.  


I am looking at the MD&A, the Management Discussion and Analysis.  It's page 34 of the report and it is -- 

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 28.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And under the heading "First Nations and Métis claims risk,” the second sentence in the first paragraph indicates that:

“Although the company has a recent history of successful negotiations and engagement with First Nations and Métis communities in Ontario, some First Nations and Métis leaders communities and their members have made assertions relating to sovereignty and jurisdiction over reserve lands and traditional territories.”

Is it your view that your engagement with First Nations in this application has been successful?  

     MR. VELS:  I think, as Mr. Hubert outlined, our customer consultations, as we outline as part of this transmission rate application, did not include First Nations and Métis communities. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So my question very specifically is:  Is no consultation successful consultation, in your view?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't think that's a reasonable question.  I don't know how we would answer that either yes or no.  We believe we have both successfully completed the OEB filing requirements for this application.  We elected to follow the guidelines of the OEB related to customer consultations for -- which really was in place for distributors, and as recently for transmitters, and we followed those guidelines.  

So, from that perspective, I believe we have met both the spirit -- or intent, rather, and the letter of the guidelines that the OEB provides related to consultations in rate filings. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I am not referring -- and let me clarify.  My apologies, Mr. Vels -- in relation to the OEB's filing guidelines.  I am referring very specifically to your annual report where you indicate the company has a recent history of successful engagement with First Nations and Métis communities in Ontario.  I am asking in relation to this specific application. 

     MR. VELS:  And what I am saying is that, for this application, we did not consult with First Nations and Métis communities. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say there was no negative outcome; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  We believe this transmission rate application adequately takes into account the needs and preferences of our customers. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I understand that.  There was no negative outcome of First Nations consultation in relation to this application; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  I can't answer that question, because I am not aware of outcomes that are outside of our company or communications or discussions that people may be having relating to this application.  So that is not an answer I can provide to you. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So equally applicable, the same corollary would be you couldn't answer the question if I asked you there was a positive outcome?  

     MR. HUBERT:  If I may, I would like to identify -- I think there are four -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if I can have Mr. Vels answer that question. 

     MR. VELS:  Certainly.  I think there are many positive outcomes included in this application.  Through pretty comprehensive period of study, we have come up with a balanced application that, in aggregate, is going to improve the transmission risk, reliability risk for the company.  

We have identified a number of efficiency saving cost reductions and improvements that are going to benefit everybody who is connected to our transmission system.  So, yes, I do think there are positive outcomes.  Everybody, including all of our customers, First Nations and Métis communities, I anticipate in some way will participate in those positive outcomes.

So I think I can say and will answer that there are positive outcomes arising from the transaction rate application. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So let me clarify.  Your first question was in relation to you could not answer as to whether or not there were negative outcomes from the engagement, or lack thereof, with First Nations in relation to this application.  And in relation to the engagement with First Nations in relation to this application, it’s similarly fair to say you couldn't speculate as to whether there are positive outcomes.

     MR. VELS:  I confirmed with you what I consider to be the positive outcomes of this application.  What I further confirmed is that I would have trouble defining what you would consider to be a negative outcome, and I am not prepared to speculate on what that might be. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  The point of distinction -- and not to belabour the point, I will move on quickly, but the point of distinction is you were saying outcomes of this application, and I am asking outcomes of engagement with First Nations in relation to this application. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, again, I am objecting to the question because of the answer that Mr. Hubert gave at the outset which was there was no engagement with First Nations.  So I think it's an unfair question for Ms. DeMarco to be asking, given the answer that she has already received.    

   MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco, there was no consultation, and I think the panel has provided their response that it would be speculation on their part to suggest whether it's is positive or negative impacts on that election to not consult. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


I am looking at now tab 4 of our compendium, and I am looking at the MD&A for the years ended December 31st, 2015 and 2014, and I am on specifically page 22 of that MD&A.


MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 33.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And in the first paragraph on that page, first -- second full sentence, midway through the paragraph, it indicates -- 

     MR. VELS:  Sorry, which paragraph?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  First full paragraph.


MR. VELS:  Thank you. 


MS. DeMARCO:  The first paragraph on the page. 

     MR. VELS:  Thank you. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's the second full sentence starting:

"For transmission assets the company must negotiate terms of payment.  It's difficult to predict the aggregate amount that the company may have to pay either on an annual or one-time basis to obtain the required agreements from First Nations."

     Do I have that right?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And safe to assume that that is highlighting a potential financial liability; is that right?

MR. VELS:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, in summary, on this first point -- or first area of examination, it's fair to say that First Nations and indigenous communities are very important to Hydro One?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  They are, in fact, your business partners; fair?  

     MR. HUBERT:  In some cases.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  They represent a material risk to the company?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, inability to agree on certain items, should we be unable to agree on certain aspects of our business, yes, by the nature of where our assets are located, that could be a significant risk. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, there are broader concerns at play, including energy poverty in First Nations communities, that you are concerned about as well; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, we are. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And would you agree with me that that is a very significant issue, not just in Ontario but nationally?  

     MR. VELS:  No, I can't agree with you on that, because I don't have sufficient information at my fingertips to be able to tell you what Quebeckers are paying or people in other provinces and how they feel about it and what the percentage of energy is of their take-home income.


I can tell you that our business and our company and our board spends a significant amount of time focusing on customers of our systems that are facing difficulty because of energy bills.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


I am now moving on to tab 5 of our compendium, which is in relation to the processes that you have undertaken and decisions in and around customer engagement in this proceeding.  You have got that up?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  Sorry.

     MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say, in the 2007 and 2008 rate application, there was extensive consultation with First Nations stakeholders; is that fair?

     MR. HUBERT:  That is the instance that I referred to in my direct evidence yesterday.  That was the one case where we had a consultation -- or, sorry, discussions with First Nations as part of our application. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can I just clarify that point in relation to your direct evidence yesterday?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I assumed that your direct evidence was, in fact, a summary of the evidence that you had filed; is that correct?  

     MR. HUBERT:  My direct evidence was also to explain some of the concerns that were raised through the Anwaatin discussion. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. DeMarco, just to be clear, you will also recall that, in PO 4, the Board specifically requested Hydro One to provide comments on the Anwaatin evidence, and in the Anwaatin evidence this application was referred to specifically.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can I just understand and clarify that?  I understood that there was an opportunity made for the company to ask interrogatories on Anwaatin's evidence; is that fair?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  We will have to go back and check the PO 4, but I believe it was specifically to allow Hydro One the opportunity to provide its comments on the evidence, not just ask interrogatories.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  We are just pulling up the procedural order now.  My recollection was that there was a date specific for asking interrogatories on Anwaatin's evidence, and none were asked.


Do I have that right, or did I miss interrogatories asked on the Anwaatin evidence?  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  "Hydro One, OEB Staff, and intervenors

may file written questions on the evidence filed with OEB and served on all parties no later than November 15th, 2016.  Environmental Defence and Anwaatin shall file responses on those interrogatories with the OEB and all parties no later than November 21st, 2016." 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  So I think, Mr. Nettleton, it was our typical IR response process, not just a submission of comments. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  I am sorry.  I thought there was additional language that said specifically about the opportunity to provide comment on the evidence.  So I will have to go check that at the lunch break, which presumably is in four minutes. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  If it was --


MS. DEMARCO:  Missed --


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- in addition to this, but I think this kind of stands alone as well, though.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just to be fair to my friend Mr. Nettleton, there was, in fact, additional wording.  I believe it's at page 6 of the procedural order, where it states that:

"Hydro One witnesses should have the opportunity to comment on the recommendations made by the ED and Anwaatin witnesses when they testify." 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  And I think it was that language that we took to mean that, through direct examination, Hydro One would be able to comment on parts of the evidence that Anwaatin had raised, and, in particular, in the Anwaatin evidence this particular rate case was referred to and discussed extensively. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  But I guess the point being that if that's what you have elected to do, fine, but there was a process for interrogatories, which I think is Ms. DeMarco's point. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Oh, I thought her point was this was new evidence that came out of the blue, that the direct evidence came out of the blue, and that there was some concern raised about inadequate time to -- or being taken out of context in that light, and that's why I raised here to say direct examination was for that purpose. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.


Ms. DeMarco, perhaps you could elaborate. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let me just be clear on this point.  It is certainly not something we are going to die on our sword on, but reading the procedural order, it is fair that you did not ask any interrogatories; is that right?  

     MR. HUBERT:  It is correct.  We did not ask any interrogatories. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And I read the statement here in the procedural order and specifically the pronoun "they" to modify ED and Anwaatin to be that, when Anwaatin and ED testified, you would have an opportunity to comment on the recommendations.  Certainly, in normal grammatical structure, that would be the appropriate placement of the modifier “they,” and I was quite surprised yesterday to see a response to the Anwaatin evidence in the form of direct Hydro One evidence.


So not that we are going to stand on procedure on this point, it just was unusual from our perspective.
     MR. QUESNELLE:   Noted, but let's not stand on procedure. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  I would have thought, Mr. Chairman, that this is exactly the right time for Hydro One to provide its views on Anwaatin's evidence.  Typically, if there is need for reply evidence -- this was additional evidence that came in late on the record, but there would be an opportunity for the party in this case, the intervening party in this case, Anwaatin, to do exactly what Ms. DeMarco is doing and that is test that evidence or test that response through cross-examination at the outset of the appearance as opposed to having counsel comment on it through cross-examination of the intervenor's evidence.  So I am lost at what the issue is. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Ms. DeMarco?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  As I say, I won’t stand on procedure.  But we understood the Board's direction to be confined to recommendations and to occur at the point in time when we were actually doing our direct evidence.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   If we can move on, that would be appreciated. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, just to check in, in relation to our second two issues, it's taking much longer than anticipated, with apologies.  I wonder at what point you would like to break for the afternoon. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   We can break at one o'clock. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's great.  Thank you.  In relation to our second main issue around specific engagement in this proceeding, we understood that, in the 2007 and 2008 rate case, you indicate -- and now I am at our tab number 5, at page 2 of 29, bottom of the document:

“In that case, stakeholders and First Nations input had a direct influence on the content of Hydro One's rate applications.”  

     MR. HUBERT:  Could you please give me the line number for that, Ms. DeMarco?

     MS. DeMARCO:  It is line number 26.  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I see it. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And it's clear that that was not the case here.  

     MR. HUBERT:  Again, since we did not engage with First Nations and Métis groups in the customer engagement nor in the stakeholder consultation, I think that follows. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And just to summarily indicate that there was not a specific section in this application dealing with First Nations at all?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Sorry, we earlier discussed the section that dealt with First Nations, I think one of the earlier exhibits. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  There was no First Nations report in this application. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Right.  Correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  I have some clarifications now very specifically in relation to the associated scorecards and the consultation prior to the scorecards.  

Very summarily, if I understand this correctly -- and I am referring in part to tab 8, but it's in various portions of your evidence.  So this was Exhibit A, tab 9, Schedule 1, and the associated attachments. 

     MR. FERGUSON:  Sorry, tab 9.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  As I understand it, in terms of what you did do in relation to consultation in wave 1, four LDCs were consulted -- why don't I just work with totals?  In all of your waves, 26 LDCs were consulted; is that fair?  

     MR. HUBERT:  I’ sorry.  I need the exhibit, and in the absence of specific tabs, I’m going to have to apologize and ask you to again repeat the reference, because it's not on our screen. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  It’s Exhibit A, tab 9, Schedule 1.  And what I have done is compiled the  Swerhun reported attendees.

     MR. FERGUSON:  Tab 8 of our compendium. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Tab 8, thank you.

     MR. FERGUSON:  It's PDF page 82.  

     MR. HUBERT:  I apologize.  I am working with a hard copy that does not have page numbers, and hence I cannot refer to the PDF.  So I am looking for the screen version, which I see here. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So just at large -- 

     MR. HUBERT:  You said number of LDCs, and I don't see it here. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  It is in relation to the attachments, where it is indicated who was in attendance at each of wave 1, wave 2, wave 3, and wave 4. 

     MR. HUBERT:  If I may help -- and really I am trying to help here -- there are four elements, I think, we are dealing with here in terms of discussions with interested parties in this rate filing, and I would like to differentiate between them, if I may.

One of them is the customer engagement exercise, which comprised of three waves.  You’re correct.  The other is a stakeholder consultation which, as I mentioned in the direct evidence, was a consultation with intervenors in our previous two transmission applications.  The third one is an opportunity through this hearing process to interact with intervenors, with registered intervenors, of which Anwaatin is one, and we have had several exchanges of evidence in that regard.  And the fourth one, which Mr. Penstone referred to, is the ongoing work we do in discussions with First Nations relative to specific investments, some of which are included in this application. 

So I am just trying to differentiate, for our benefit here, between customer engagement and stakeholder consultation, both of which are very separate initiatives.  Is that helpful?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, but I am referring very specifically to customer engagement. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  So the exhibit in front of us is on the stakeholder consultation, and perhaps that's my confusion. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  It's the attached IPSOS presentation.  It's just the numbers where you outline wave 1, wave 2, wave 3.  It's 21 on the presentation.  The challenge is that the exhibit isn't numbered accordingly. 

     MR. FERGUSON:  It's PDF page 107.  


MS. DeMARCO:  So just adding up wave 1, wave 2, wave 3 is what I am trying to get -- big picture, very big picture here, not into the nitty-gritty details.

Wave 1, one page up, so it’s one PDF page up, adding together the total number of LDCs involved, we have 4 in wave 1; next page, 13 in wave 2; next page, 9 in wave 3.  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, correct. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, this is an IPSOS report.  We have a separate panel that was precisely empanelled and set up to address this report.  Ms. DeMarco is asking questions about take-up and responses to the customer engagement process reported by IPSOS.  My concern is that this report and the details and consent are specifically for a different panel, and I would think that it would be best, if she is asking questions about the content of this report, which she is, that they be saved and addressed in the next panel that is coming up, which will be the joint customer and IPSOS panel. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Ms. DeMarco?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy to reserve specific questions for the next IPSOS panel.  But I would love to get a high‑level understanding from this strategic panel, particularly because they did answer questions in relation to customer engagement. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   So do you plan on going any further than just identifying, through use of this report, who and how many participated in this consultation?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  No. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   And if they can agree that these numbers are representative, Mr. Nettleton, I don't think that this panel that is up now would be in any way kind of disadvantaged of not -- of having this as their evidence.  I think if this is being used to just to identify who is at the consultations, I think we are still at a high level. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  To be clear, sir, this is the enterprise strategy panel, and while Mr. Hubert is here to talk about are the areas of consultation and customer engagement that they have used for preparation of this application.  We are now getting down one level to say, “Okay.  How good was the customer engagement, or how much take-up was there with respect to this?”  And that's what I am concerned about, because that's specifically the area of the customer engagement in the IPSOS panel. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I think identifying who was at these consultations, just from a quantum perspective, I think, is directly aligned with Ms. DeMarco's questioning up to this point, and I think if she wants to capture who was there, if it's thematically where you have been in the past, Ms. DeMarco, I think we are still at a high level, and it is still appropriate to deal with that in this panel. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  I think, though, in fairness, we are talking about effectively who the take-up was.  The first question needs to be:  How were these -- how was this program described -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I think Ms. DeMarco has the best handle on what her first question should be, and I don't see any problem with her identifying who was at these consultations at the level she's working at.


Ms. DeMarco. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Maybe I can help.  And just at a very high level, I counted about 26 LDCs, plus or minus.  Is that a fair number?

     MR. HUBERT:  I didn't do the arithmetic in the heat of the moment, but I will accept that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Subject to check --

     MR. VELS:  I did the arithmetic.  It is 26. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Our CFO confirms.  It's quite often the case. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And there was no overlap. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Subject to check. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Subject to check.  And in and around -- help me here -- 24-odd, 25-odd industrials, subject to check? 

     MR. HUBERT:  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  So, seriously, we didn't go through and add them up, so I --

     MS. DeMARCO:  Subject to check.  

     MR. HUBERT:  I will accept that for now. 

     MR. VELS:  Are you asking us to go and check this and add them up for you and provide the numbers, or are you just --


MS. DeMARCO:  I've given you numbers --


MR. VELS:  -- asking us to ensure that you are directionally correct?

     MS. DeMARCO:  -- around -- I am directionally correct.


MR. VELS:  Okay. 


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


One of the large LDCs, of course, is Hydro One Distribution Inc.; is that fair?

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, it is. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Particularly for northern and First Nations communities; is that fair?

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so did you consult with your sister company? 

     MR. HUBERT:  We did not explicitly have an invitation sent out to Hydro One Distribution and have them attend as a separate entity or -- as you know, we are an integrated company, and, therefore, we do have information about Hydro One Distribution and its customers. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  But no one was in attendance from Hydro One Distribution?

     MR. HUBERT:  Explicitly wearing a Hydro One Distribution hat?  No. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


In relation to what's now tab 12 of our materials, I understand that, in part, your process was assisted by a customer advisory board; is that correct?  

     MR. HUBERT:  In general, we do have a customer advisory board that we occasionally consult with on matters. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And very specifically, I am referring to Exhibit B1, tab 2, S2, page 4, line 16.  You outline the members, and fair to say that there are no First Nations members of that customer advisory panel or board?  

     MR. HUBERT:  That's correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


Now, in relation to scorecards -- and I do truly think that these are just questions of clarification on my    part -‑ I am a little confused, because there are so many in the evidence.  So excuse my short-failings here, but if you look at -- start at tab 8 of our materials; is that right?  Sorry, tab 9 of our materials, which is Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1.  There is, at Table 8, a proposed transmission scorecard with related definitions. 

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, I have it.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And at tab 9 -- sorry, I am looking at page 37 of Attachment 1 at tab 8, which is attachment to Exhibit A, tab 9, Schedule 1 -- there is another proposed transmission scorecard.  

     MR. HUBERT:  I believe that is the one from our stakeholder consultation. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  There is also another one from your stakeholder consultation, which I believe is found at B2, sub 1, sub 1, Attachment 1.  There are several others.  Let me simplify.  Are all of these the same?  

     MR. HUBERT:  I would like to check that, and perhaps I can get back to you after the break, because if it was part of a presentation made to our stakeholders, then it would have been a proposed scorecard, and when we incorporated the feedback we got from our stakeholders, it resulted in the actual scorecard that we included in our application reflecting stakeholder input.  So -- 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So that's very specifically my question:  Were there changes from the proposed scorecard that was set out in the stakeholder consultation to what is still referred to as a proposed scorecard that made its way into your application?  

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, there were.  So -- and we are using the word "proposed scorecard" twice here -- you are correct -- because our first proposal was to our stakeholders, where we took forward what Hydro One was contemplating as a regulatory scorecard and proposed it to our stakeholders in the stakeholders session.  Having received some feedback from them, some of that was incorporated and resulted in a still proposed scorecard, but this time it's proposed to the board for ultimate approval. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder, given that my old eyes are failing at this point, if you could do a redaction and highlight the changes that were made by way of undertaking?

     MR. HUBERT:  Yes, we could certainly highlight.  In fact, I can probably do that after the break, because there are a couple of areas that specifically relate to momentary interruptions where we made some changes. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if we could have that marked as an undertaking. 

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO DO A REDACTION TO THE PROPOSED SCORECARD AND HIGHLIGHT THE CHANGES THAT WERE MADE
     MS. DeMARCO:  If I have got this right, the colourful, the pretty scorecard, that's populated with 2015 data is yet still another scorecard?  That's at tab 10 of our materials.
     MR. HUBERT:  Right.  So the filing requirements specify that we should have five years of data, where available, in our proposed scorecard, so this version is just populated with historical data as per those filing requirements. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Just so that I am clear, this is the new revised version of the scorecard populated with five years of data?  

     MR. HUBERT:  That is correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  


There is, I think, two or three more versions of this scorecard.  They are at tab 11 of our materials, at page 7 of the evidence, and then Attachment 1 of the evidence and then Attachment 3 of the evidence.  I am unclear as to which versions these are.  Certainly at attachment 3 it includes the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics.  

     MR. HUBERT:  So that I can clarify as well.  Tier 2 and tier 3 metrics are not part of the proposed scorecard which we are seeking approval for in this proceeding.  Tier 2 and tier 3 metrics were put forward in order to basically provide more granularity for the purpose of Hydro One monitoring outcomes and its performance in support of the tier 1 metrics that are, in fact, in the proposed scorecard before the board for approval.  Does that help?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So if I can be really crass and rough about this, these might inform compensation, but they may not inform the scorecard that goes to the board?
     MR. VELS:  No, that's incorrect. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  

     MR. VELS:  The way we described the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics is, in many cases, they are subsidiary metrics that might inform and make up the top-line metric that is on the proposed transmission scorecard.  We provided the tier 2 and tier 3 metrics to provide the board with just more information as to how we measure and how we manage those top-line metrics. 


So. for example -- I will pick an easy one.  Safety in terms of recordable incidents, for example, is a top-line key metric.  It's included in the scorecard that we are presenting for approval by the OEB. 


One of the tier 2 metrics, I think, is recordable motor vehicle accidents.  Motor vehicle accidents, given our business, is a fairly significant element of that consolidated metric.  So our business manages and measures subsidiary tier 2 and tier 3 metrics that are necessary to understand, if one wants to understand the direction and the impact on the consolidated metric. 


There is no difference or weighting necessarily, from a compensation perspective, between tier 1, tier 2, and tier 3.  We apply metrics and targets to people's compensation as appropriate and to drive behaviour.  That might be a tier 1 metric.  It might be a tier 3 metric.  It might be a completely different metric. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you for that clarification, that's helpful.  The other two tab 11, page 7, and Attachment 1 scorecards, those are where in the evolution of the final scorecard?  

     MR. FERGUSON:  PDF page 150.  

     MR. HUBERT:  This is Exhibit B 2, tab 1, Schedule 1 of our application.  That would be the proposed scorecard that is in front of the Board for approval, I believe. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So that's Version 2? 

     MR. HUBERT:  If you are referring to Version 1 as the one that goes before our stakeholders and Version 2 as the one that is now before the Board in this application, then that would be Version 2. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say there is no Version 3? 

     MR. VELS:  Well, there may well be if the Board directs us to change the scorecard.  But, at this stage, this is the scorecard that we are placing before the Board for approval. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  That's very helpful.  I was having confusion with the numbers.  

On each and all of these scorecards -- Version 1, Version 2 -- the definitions, the background behind the definitions, in terms of tier 2 and tier 3 metrics, there is no mention of First Nations in any aspect of the scorecard; is that fair?

     MR. HUBERT:  I don't believe there is. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I am going to move on to reliability, probably another 15 minutes maximum. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Let's take the lunch break now then, Ms. DeMarco, please. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And apologies for going over my allotted time. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Let's resume at 2:10.  Thank you.  

--- Upon luncheon recess at 1:07 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:13 p.m. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon,  Please be seated.


I am looking for my most current schedule.  I believe -- Mr. Dumka, are you up next?  No?  Ms. DeMarco, I am sorry.  You hadn't finished off quite yet.  I am sorry.  My apologies. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  I will take that as a sign, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  [Laughter]

     MS. DeMARCO:  I will look to the panel to direct me as to what questions might be more appropriate for the planning panel.  I am happy to reserve those, so I will try and be very brief. 


If I can ask you to turn to Exhibit B2, tab 1, Schedule 1 at page 5, which is that famous proposed transmission scorecard, what I am going to call Version 2.  I have a clarification question around the calculation of the T-SAIDI in relation to reliability.


It indicates, under the T-SAIDI measure for system reliability, that it's -- it is the average minutes that power to a delivery point is interrupted.  Where there are no interruptions at a delivery point, does that go in as a zero value?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We have multiple delivery points across the province.  If a single particular delivery point did not incur any kind of interruptions, it would be recorded as zero for that delivery point.  This metric applies to all delivery points.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  So just to be clear on that point, where there is zero interruptions, it becomes a zero value?
     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Great.  And at tab 12 of our compendium, which is Exhibit B1, tab 2, S2, at page 11, fair to say that it's your intent to provide first-quartile reliability? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that calculation is done on a corporate-wide basis; is that fair?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the first-quartile reliability applies or is in regards to Hydro One's network in southern Ontario.  That's considered to have multiple circuits.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is there a measure for single circuits or northern Ontario?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We have that information, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  But is the first-quartile measure applicable to those?

     MR. PENSTONE:  No.  So the first-quartile measure is only applicable to those parts of the province that are served by multiple circuits, and typically that exists south of Barrie. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  If you were to provide some semblance of benchmarking for northern Ontario, would there be peers?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  On that one, I don't know. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Could you undertake to find out?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Now, peers within Canada?  Because that's how we benchmark ourselves as against Canadian utilities.  You know, I can undertake to see whether it's possible.  I am not -- I don't have enough background in terms of benchmarking to determine whether it's possible or not. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And maybe, to be more precise, while you are doing that, to look at whether Hydro-Québec would be an appropriate peer for that measure? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  All right.  

     MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J2.3. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE SOME SEMBLANCE OF BENCHMARKING FOR NORTHERN ONTARIO, WHETHER THERE WOULD BE PEERS, ALSO TO LOOK AT WHETHER HYDRO-QUÉBEC WOULD BE AN APPROPRIATE PEER FOR THAT MEASURE. 

 
MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Now, again, Ms. DeMarco, this would be contingent on us being able to get information from these other utilities; right?  Okay.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You are determining whether it's possible. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, thank you.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Now, my next series of questions relate to what is our tab 13 exhibit, which are a series of interrogatories about reliability from Anwaatin, and is it appropriate to leave the specifics of the reliability questions to the planning panel and just have the generalities discussed?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I think that that would be appropriate. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  Fair to say that there is a really significant reliability issue in the north?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct, and that's due to the nature of the transmission system in northern Ontario, and it affects all customers in northern Ontario. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  And fair to say there is even more significant issue in the Anwaatin communities?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  You know, I can't comment on that, because I am not familiar where your communities are located.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  We will go into that in the planning panel in the interrogatory response. 


Mr. Vels, is senior management aware of this significant reliability issue in the north?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, we are.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I think I will leave my questions there and revisit the details with the planning panel, if that helps. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Thank you. 

     MR. VELS:  Okay.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.


Mr. Dumka?  

Cross-Examination by Mr. Dumka:

     MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.  Most of -- actually, all of my questions were answered over the past two days.  I just have two points of clarification, so I should take very little time. 


I was wondering if we could see B-2-1-1, Attachment 1.  It's been used a couple times today.  And the table on page 2.


I am just looking for some clarification on what's included in the two asset management measures.  It's in-service capital adds and cap ex as a percentage of budget, and I just want to confirm:  Do these figures exclude the Bruce to Milton project?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  I believe they would, subject to check, because Bruce to Milton is a separately licensed transmitter, and we wouldn't include their numbers on our scorecard. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Right.  My understanding from the Bruce to Milton proceeding we had earlier in the year is that everything was taken out of Hydro One Networks and put into this new subsidiary in terms of the lines and such, not the stations, which continue to be owned by Hydro One Transmission. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  The assets owned by the Bruce to Milton partnership are two 500-kV circuits between Bruce and Milton. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  My question is just to seek some clarification.  Assuming that the Bruce to Milton numbers are not here, and I assume that they are not, because the in-service add was about half a billion dollars in 2014, so the numbers that we have seen in the last couple of days, I don't recall it being in that level of magnitude in the in-service adds.  If we want to flip that up, the in-service adds, feel free.  I am just looking for some clarification as to whether the Bruce to Milton is in these Hydro One numbers, and, really, where I am going is my recollection of the Bruce to Milton project, half a billion dollar spend, and there were a number of delays, et cetera.  So I am wondering if the way you intermix work from one year to the next to try to hit the OEB-approved cap ex figures and in-service adds, if there is an impact on the, I will call them, the pure Hydro One numbers.

You may have actually been underspent in capital one year or the next, because you had to focus resources on bringing Bruce to Milton back into service or getting it up and completing it.  That's my conjecture. 

     MR. VELS:  So if I can just clarify, are you asking if expenditures on Bruce to Milton capital projects were included in the calculation of the scorecard or if Bruce to Milton projects undertaken by the company had an impact on the execution of Hydro One capital?  

     MR. DUMKA:  Both.  

     MR. VELS:  Okay.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Whether they are included here, my expectation is that you would have taken them out because they belong to the Bruce to Milton entity.  So I just wanted to clarify that first, and if the work on the Bruce to Milton project was a contributor to some of the capital expenditures underspending that we see here in, I will call it, the historical scorecard.  That is all I am seeking to verify. 

     MR. VELS:  Thank you.  So we will undertake to check that, because I don't offhand feel confident to make a comment on 2011 numbers.  So we will do that.  


On the second question, Mr. Penstone will take that.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So we are going back a number of years, but the Bruce to Milton project was a priority within the company to accomplish.  Consequently -- and again, I won't be able to name project by project, but certainly resources were directed to that project and may have caused others to be deferred.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That's all I wanted to clarify here.  That's the extent of my question on that. 

Now, through the last couple of days we have had discussions on the 2015 business plan and what was done with it and such.  And, at the end of the day, we heard some discussion of customer consultation going on through the first quarter of this year, through April and maybe even May.  I don't know. 

My question is:  When did the Hydro One board of directors approve this transmission application?  When was that?  Was that the May board meeting?  I am just trying to get a sense of the timing in terms of when they did approve this submission to the OEB.  

     MR. VELS:  I believe it was in the May board meeting.  

     MR. DUMKA:  And would that have been early May?  Late May?  Mid-May? 

     MR. VELS:  May 6th.  

     MR. DUMKA:  So when it comes right down to it, you would have nailed down the, I will call them, the revisions to your 2015 business plan and provided that, effectively, through this transmission evidence or the high level that you provided to your board by May 6th.  So you actually had this nailed down in late April, in terms of what this transmission application would look like, so you could inform your board an get approval; is that correct?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  We were in a position to provide the information to our board for mailing a week before the meeting, so that's correct. 

     MR. DUMKA:  So a week before.  Okay.  Is that submission to your board of directors in evidence here?  Has it been provided?

     MR. VELS:  I believe it is. 

     MR. HUBERT:  It is. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, it is.  I am not sure what the reference number is, but it is. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So we do have it here. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. DUMKA:  I just wanted to confirm that this modified business plan was actually nailed down by the end of April.  So you already had something. 


Was there anything in addition to the proposed transmission application that your board of directors saw?  Was there a revised business plan or whatever else that was also provided to them, at a high level, with the numbers at that same board meeting?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, the board participated in many discussions on this subject, all the way through 2015 up until that May meeting.  We did not provide them with a specific unique or self-standing business plan.  All of the information relative to the application and the related elements that would have been in a business plan are in the transmission rate application and was discussed in the context of this document with the board at the time.  

And the board reviewed, but did not approve this document.  The intention is to approve the business plan at the December meeting, which is next week. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Right.  Okay.  If somebody could just give me the reference as to where we have the board package that approved this submission, just for matter of reference.

That's the extent of my questions.  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay, Ms. Grice.

Thank you Mr. Dumka.  

Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

     MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon.  It’s Shelly Grice representing AMPCO.  I just have a few follow-up questions from earlier discussions today.

My first one is on behalf of Mr. Janigan, and he was inquiring about the Ontario-Quebec 2-terawatt deal, and he is asking -- following up on his question and Mr. Vels’ clarification this morning.  If the capital expenditures forecast in the application don't improve this project, he is inquiring, how will it be paid for?   

     MR. PENSTONE:  My understanding is this particular project won't prompt the need for any transmission investments.  And I will confirm that on the planning panel, but, at this time, we don't expect any. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  My next question is regarding a discussion earlier with Mr. Vels, and it was in response to questions that were being asked by Panel Member Elsayed regarding what the investment plan was based on.  I believe he said that it was partially based on a draft of the 2015 business plan, and I wondered if we could get a copy of that draft 2015 business plan. 

     MR. VELS:  That business plan was a draft, hasn't been approved by our board, and all of the relevant information and the work that continued subsequent to that is included in the transmission rate filing.  And the business plan that will be approved by our board is going to be made available immediately following the board meeting on December 2nd.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  There was another response today by Mr. Penstone that indicated that there are projects in this application that Hydro One hasn't approved, and we just want a clarification.  What does that mean?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So there are projects in the application that we have not committed, or got the authorization to proceed with within Hydro One.  

     MS. GRICE:  But the dollars are in the investment plan?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  So, to clarify, the investment plan includes projects this are already underway -- and a good example of that is the Clarington project -- and the investment plan also includes projects that have yet to be committed within Hydro One.

The entire, I will use the word, compendium of proposed investments greater than $5 million is included in the application, and if you give me a minute, I could actually get you the reference. 

     MS. GRICE:  Sure.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The reference is B-1-3-11. 

     MS. GRICE:  And would that reference also include the approximate dollar value of those projects?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  The last little follow-up question:  We’ve had a lot of discussion around the scorecard, and it was just brought up in the last inquiry, but I wanted to talk about targets for those measures that have been set.  I just wondered if there have been any set now, or is that something that's going to be covered off in the business plan that's coming forward?  

     MR. VELS:  We are not proposing to set targets, long-term targets for the scorecard elements, at this time.  We do set annual targets for almost all of those metrics, and we measure against those internally within the company.  

     MS. GRICE:  And is there a reason why long-term targets can't be set at this time?  

     MR. VELS:  Some of the KPIs and some of the measures don't lend themselves to long-term targets.  Others -- on others, we are still ascertaining the use and the value of the metrics, you know, by experience.

And so we felt that the first step would be to agree to the scorecard with the OEB, and then consider, as we evolve it, the pros and cons of setting long-term targets against those metrics. 

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Grice, can I just interject, then, at this point? 

     MS. GRICE:  Sure.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  I am just trying to get a sense for the lens that the board of directors uses in approving an application to come to the Board.  On May 6th, an application was put before your board of directors seeking approval to submit it with us here at the OEB, and yet there are projects within it that have not received Hydro One approval.


So what's the focus?  Is it the dollar amount?  Is it a certain level of project?  Is it just recognizing that grammatically there is a direction?  Or perhaps you could elaborate on that, Mr. Vels. 

     MR. VELS:  Sure.  And Mr. Penstone will probably set me right if I get it wrong, but our internal processes still require further levels of approval, and those levels of approval differ depending on the size of the project.  So a review of the filing and ultimately approval of the business plan next week will release certain elements of the plan and allow our management to execute against certain elements of the plan.  But there are others that are either sufficiently large or material that would need to come back to the board once they have been engineered, the timing is finalized, and the board would, at that point, on a discrete basis, approve the release of those monies, and that's the reference to which Mr. Penstone is referring. 


There are other projects that might require my approval only or the CEO or the chief operating officer, depending on the size, or Mr. Penstone's individual approval.  And so that process of releasing the monies for spending is, I think, what he is referring to as the approval level. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Perfect.  Thank you. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  But, sorry, approval of the business plan in itself by the board does not release money for any project, does it? 

     MR. VELS:  It releases money for, for example, work programs, such as maintenance, brush-clearing --

     DR. ELSAYED:  I was talking about capital projects. 

     MR. VELS:  Yeah.  But on capital, no, there are still internal approval processes that have to be followed before we will release projects, and we would -- and they ensure that certain components of the process have been followed, for example, you know, pre-engineering, final engineering, and estimating has been done properly.  And so the approval would be required and has a responsibility to make sure that all of the steps of the process have been followed before releasing the money. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  And that step, even though the business plan is approved, you still have to justify the economics or the drivers behind each and every project once it's gone for release?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the answer is yes.  We would have identified a project within the business plan.  That project is not necessarily fully estimated to arrive at a final cost.  Once we have the final cost for a project, we would then go back to our board of directors in accordance with what's referred to in the company, our executive authority register, that provide certain authorities, depending on the magnitude or the cost to actually commit the project and initiate it.  


So there is this subsequent step where the authorization to proceed on a project that is in the business plan. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Sorry, Ms. Grice. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  This has just triggered a couple of other follow-up questions, so bear with me, just one more. 


When you have individual projects that have to go to your board of directors to be approved, is there a threshold in terms of dollar value that sort of triggers that requirement to write a report and take it to your board on an individual project? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  In the case of capital projects, it's $50 million. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you. 


And just another question:  Do any dollars flow between transmission and distribution?  Do they flow -- 

     MR. VELS:  What do you mean by "dollars"? 

     MS. GRICE:  Investment dollars.  If you, you know, have a need in distribution or, the other way around, in transmission, do any investment dollars flow between the two? 

     MR. VELS:  I think what you are asking is would we substitute an asset in distribution for one in transmission.  The answer would be no. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Okay.  Can we turn, please, to Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 4.  And this chart has been pulled up before, and I am just focusing on the system reliability objective to maintain top-quartile reliability relative to transmission peers. 


And can we next turn to AMPCO Interrogatory 3, and that is at Exhibit I, tab 3 -- there it is.  Okay.


So, in this interrogatory, we asked for a target range for reliability, what that means in terms of maintaining top-quartile, and the response is that you use a T-SAIDI metric for your multi-circuit system, and that your target that you have set for upcoming years is between 10 and 13 minutes.  And I just had a couple of questions around that. 


So as I am sure you are not surprised -- and you have mentioned this in your evidence as well -- that large industrials are interested in the frequency of interruptions, and I just wondered why there isn't a T-SAIFI metric for the multi-circuit or even a T-SAIDI momentary -- sorry, T-SAIFI momentary metric for the transmission system. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Typically, in the past, the metric that was used for reliability was the SAIDI for multi-circuit.  That's been sort of the conventional measure that's been used.  And I am presuming that it's for continuity purposes that that's the single measure. 

     MS. GRICE:  So that's just historically been the metric that you have used.  
Would it be possible to develop a SAIFI metric?  Is that...
     MR. PENSTONE:  We certainly monitor SAIFI.  The difficulty with target ranges for SAIFI is the frequency of interruptions is largely influenced by weather, and if you give me a minute...

If I can refer you to Exhibit B-1-2-2-2, which is the materials that were used for customer engagement, and page 10.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Penstone, can you give the reference one more time?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, it's B-1-2-2-2.  It's the materials that were used for the customer engagement.  Here we go.  


So, Ms. Grice, the chart on the right-hand side illustrates the SAIFI for our entire network.  And, as you can see from this chart, it's generally level over a ten-year period. 


If I move to -- if you don't mind, if you can pull up page 12, this particular chart illustrates the contributors that impact and affect the safety performance.  And if you can see for single-circuit SAIFI on the right-hand side, over half of the effect is due to weather.  On the left-hand side, 30 per cent is due to weather.  


So we certainly monitor and track the performance.  The difficulty with setting targets, and the point that I am trying to make here, is its relationship to weather that is outside of our control. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And just the slide you referred us to on page 10, that's the entire system, whereas your metric is just for the multi-circuit part of the system.  Is that correct?   Like, your 10 to 13 minutes does not include the single circuit? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, the 10 minutes? 

     MS. GRICE:  Your 10- to 13-minute target for SAIDI is just for the multi-circuit, whereas the slide at page 10 was for the entire system. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Historically, has your target always been 10 to 13 minutes, or have you had different targets in different years? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  I can't answer that.  I can't answer that right now.  I don't know the answer to that question.  It's a good question.  I just don't have the information. 

     MS. GRICE:  Could we get an undertaking to find out what the targets have been historically for the transmission system -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly. 

     MS. GRICE:  -- against that metric?  That would be great. 

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO FIND OUT WHAT THE TARGESTS HAVE BEEN HISTORICALLY FOR THE TRANSMISSION SYSTEM AGAINST THE METRIC

     MS. GRICE:  If we can go to slide 11 in the same presentation deck we were just in.  And just underneath the multi-circuit system regarding interruption duration, you have indicated there that -- what I am taking from this is, for the last five years, the average interruption duration per delivery point is 10 minutes; is that correct?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So then that says that, for the last five years, you've met the target to maintain top-quartile reliability, and, in fact, you have been at the top end of your target, or the best end of your target.

     MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, what, in the context of -- 

     MS. GRICE:  Of the 10 to 13 minutes. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  The 10 to 13 minutes? 

     MS. GRICE:  Is the range that keeps you in top-quartile reliability against your peers.  I just want to see if that's my understanding of what that says on that slide. 

     MR. PENSTONE:   I am pausing, Ms. Grice, because our quartile performance not only is dependent on our SAIDI results, but also the SAIDI results of the others in the peer group.  

So to elaborate on that, you could have a situation where we scored 10 minutes, and in one year that makes us top quartile.  In another year, because of the improved performance of our peers, our quartile standing might slip.  

     MS. GRICE:  Is that what the 10 to 13 is for?  What it’s meant to capture?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Meant to capture?  

     MS. GRICE:  The relative -- 

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's meant to capture the fact that the targets typically are set on rolling averages, so the rolling average may be between 10 and 13 minutes.  


To your point -- and I really believe that that 10 minutes refers to the performance between 2011 and 2015 -- that would suggest that the rolling average over that period is 10.  That would inform our target.  

But you could have a situation where the reliability performance deteriorates, and, as a result of that, the rolling average might increase and go above 10 to 11, 12, or 13.  I think that was the context as it relates to the response. 


I am also going to suggest that, for us to actually give you a precise answer, we would have to do some analysis. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I was really more or less just trying to understand that, in the last five years, you have met your top-quartile reliability target.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  We will confirm that.

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.5.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO CONFIRM IF, IN THE LAST TEN YEARS, HYDRO ONE HAS MET THEIR TOP-QUARTILE RELIABILITY TARGET
     MS. GRICE:  So -- and that was really -- my next question was:  Has there been a time historically when you have not achieved that target in the last ten years?  Could that be part of the undertaking?  So not just the last five, but the last ten?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So to be clear, the undertaking is to examine our performance over the last ten years, and indicate the extent to which it remained in the top quartile?  

     MS. GRICE:  Yes, yes.  Thank you.  So just staying on -- sorry, oh, yeah, on this same slide that we are on -- and this is a slide that you presented to your customers -- it says that, out of the duration interruptions between the years of 2011 and 2015, 50 per cent can be -- was contributed by equipment failures. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  For the multi-circuit system? 

     MS. GRICE:  For the multi-circuit system. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Correct. 

     MS. GRICE:  And if we now go to Interrogatory AMPCO 21, please.  And this interrogatory was asking a question about that 50 per cent, and what we wanted to see was the trend over time.  So what was it?  2011, 2013, 2014, and 2015 for both SAIDI and SAIFI on the multi-circuit. 

And the response at Part A shows that, between 2011 and 2014, your equipment failures -- the percentage of contribution to SAIDI from equipment failures was actually decreasing from 67 per cent in 2011 down to 29 per cent in 2014. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Back up again to 56 per cent in 2015. 

     MS. GRICE:  I want to talk about 2015 next.  But then, in terms of SAIFI, so the percentage of equipment failures that contribute to SAIFI, between the years of 2011 and 2014, it's also gone down from 37 per cent in 2011 to 16 per cent in 2014; correct?

     MR. PENSTONE:  That’s accurate with the response. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Yes. So then, in 2015, the numbers go up for SAIDI and SAIFI.  And we asked a question about the spike in 2015, and that response is in AMPCO No. 23, which is Exhibit I, tab 3, Schedule 23.  

And I just want to make sure we understand what's happened here.  So the response says that, in 2015, approximately 20 to 25 per cent of the total 272,000 unplanned outage hours was due to capacitor banks being out of service for long durations.  

And if you skip down to the last sentence, it says:

“In cases where local reactive power was needed to support peak load, the capacitors were returned to service.  But in other cases where the voltage support was not immediately required, resources were reallocated to more critical sustainment or capital work on the transmission network.”

And I believe that translated into the capacitor banks  being out of service for long durations. 

So I just wanted to understand how much of that is contributing to the higher equipment outage in 2015?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I don't have an answer to that right now, Ms. Grice.  But can we defer that to the planning panel?  

     MS. GRICE:  I just want to get a sense directionally of would that number in 2015 have being going down, so we can talk about it then.  


And just a general question:  Is it a regular occurrence in the way that you respond to an outage that sometimes equipment is not returned to service immediately, and then the clock ticks on that outage?  Is that something that typically happens, or is this an abnormality?  
     MR. PENSTONE:  I am afraid you are getting into the details of how we actually measure equipment outages included into our measurements.  Again, I don't know the answer to that question.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  The actual mechanics. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So I will ask more details on that in Panel 2?

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, sorry, the planning panel. 

     MS. GRICE:  The planning panel.  Thank you. 


If we can just go back to AMPCO Interrogatory 3.  I just want to understand a little bit more about how reliability risk relates to the targets that you have set for the test period of 10 to 13 minutes, and I guess I will just start with:  Is there a relationship between reliability risk and that metric?  Can you draw a straight line and say that, if reliability risk improves, that's going to help us with the achievement of our targets?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Not necessarily, because of the other contributors to unreliability that are outside of our control.  So, to your earlier comment, an observation:  On the multi-circuit system, 50 per cent of the unreliability is due to equipment.  The other aspects -- not all of them, mind you.  The weather aspects would be outside of our control, so you could have a situation whereby, in spite of making all of these investments and reducing reliability risk, if you have a year where the weather is particularly abnormal and bad, that your SAIDI performance would show poor.  I shouldn't say “show poor,” but it would impact the SAIDI performance.


The equipment performance, however, as a result of the investments, we would expect to reduce over time.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So just to make sure I fully understand, if we can go to slide 15, please, which shows the unplanned outage hours due to equipment failure between 2011 and 2015, and this is for the entire system. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Mm-hmm. 

     MS. GRICE:  So what you are saying is you could expect to see a decline in those figures?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  As the reliability risk reduces for each one of those three types of assets we would expect the forced outage rate to be reduced. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Can we now go, please, to Exhibit A3, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 6.  Okay.  So it starts at line 4, describing that:

"Hydro One has modified its asset management approach to include reliability risk as a leading indicator of future transmission system performance."


And at line 7, it says, at the end of line 7:

"This approach is new for Hydro One."


And then if we skip to line 15, it says that:

"Reliability risk also provides a directional indicator to inform the appropriate level and pacing of sustainment investments."


So I just wanted to have a little bit of a comparison with what you have done previously.  So when you put together your level of spending and pacing of sustainment investments in the past, what were the leading indicators that you looked at that informed your spending?  You didn't have the reliability risk model.  What did you rely on?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I am not certain whether we had a leading indicator -- that we were able to develop a leading indicator metric in previous applications -- sorry, in the previous development of past investment plans.


In the absence of that metric, I would have to go back and see whether -- well, I know we didn't have a leading metric.  What I am trying to and I am struggling with a little bit here is to determine how those planned investments -- to what extent we were able to estimate the outcome.  

     MS. GRICE:  Did you have some indicators?  Let's drop the word "leading.”  Were there maybe a suite of indicators that you used?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I don't know.  I will take that as an undertaking. 

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.6.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE WERE SOME INDICATORS USED TO DETERMINE AN ESTIMATE OF OUTCOME
     MS. GRICE:  I guess the reason -- oh, sorry.  The reason I was asking is just back to that AMPCO 21, where we looked at sort of the trend of equipment failures, and that they are declining over time.  I just -- I guess I more directly wanted to know:  Is the equipment failure, is that -- or equipment performance, is that -- would that have been an indicator in the past that you would have relied on to set your sustainment budget and pacing?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So if I could go back to your previous question about leading indicators, what we did in the past -- and as my colleagues remind me -- is we simply took a look at the expected service life of equipment, and we said that, under a particular investment plan, if we proceeded with it, how does that -- what impact would that have on equipment?  That is on a fleet-wide basis, the demographics of the equipment that is beyond its expected service life. 


So we would say they would take a snapshot today.  I have five transformers, for the purpose of illustration, beyond their expected service life.  If we execute our investment plan, the net result would be, after a two-year period elapsed, it could be four or it could be six, because other transformers in that period would enter that range and phase as well. 


So, in the past, the indicator would be the number of assets after the investment plan that would be beyond their expected service life. 

     MS. GRICE:  Not that term again.  I am just kidding.  We just had a long discussion about what that meant at the technical conference. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  So -- and that wasn't -- so we believed that the transmission risk model is a more sophisticated measure of determining what the impacts of the investments would be on reliability risk.  

     MS. GRICE:  But would you say that your indicators that informed your planning in the past, would you say they were insufficient?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I wouldn't say they were insufficient.  I would suggest that they have been evolved and made more sophisticated.  And as was pointed out yesterday, to our knowledge, there is only one other organization on the planet that is using the concept of reliability risk.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So can you just summarize just at a very high level why you felt the need for a new indicator?  What was sort of the trigger for that?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Well, the trigger actually was some analytics work that we had started to do to understand what are the contributing causes to unreliability, and then was there a means to link those contributing causes and the investments that we are going to make to actually create an outcome measure to forecast the expected impact on reliability risk.


The previous measures, as I just described, all we were able to tell is that, after the investments were made, we'd have fewer or more assets beyond their expected service life.  We weren't able to link the fact that we had assets beyond their expected service life to their impacts on reliability or reliability risk. 

     MS. GRICE:  So are you saying then -- so the table that we looked at, the equipment performance table, that showed sort of the failure trend.  Would that not be an indicator of future system performance?  Would you not link those two?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So what we did is we took a look at -- the short answer to your question is:  Yes.  Equipment performance absolutely impacts reliability risk.  And what we wanted to identify was, if we made particular investments on particular assets, how would that impact reliability risk?  Do we get -- to what extent do we get an improvement on reliability risk if we spend more or less money on transformers, breakers, or lines?  Which one of those gives us the greatest impact?  

     MS. GRICE:  But I wanted to sort of go one step further and say doesn't that equipment performance trend actually predict future reliability -- not risk, not reliability risk, future reliability, period?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  It certainly contributes to future reliability.  I’m certain that we can, say, predict it, because of these external factors that I mentioned earlier.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I will move on.  Can we please turn to Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 7?  This is the table that shows the relative change reliability risk, and in the third column, it says:

“Relative change in risk, 2017-2018, without investment.”

“Without investment,” does that mean zero dollars or no incremental dollars?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  I believe that means, if we made no investment whatsoever over the course of the two years, how the reliability risk would change.  

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And I just wanted to just talk a little bit about the relationship between reliability risk and sustainment spending and whether or not that relationship is linear. 


So, for example, if you spent 100 million more, would that save the similar relative percentage impact versus if you spend 100 million less?  Like, would it be positive 1 per cent, negative 1 per cent?  Is it that kind of linear relationship? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  It actually depends where you would spend that $100 million; that's where you get the impact. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And when did you start work on the reliability risk model?  Was that after December of 2015?

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MS. GRICE:  So as you are putting together the next business plan?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Ms. Grice, can I just -- while we are close to this, could you go back one page, please, on the  -- I think I have got this right.  

In the first paragraph there, actually line 6:

“Hydro One's approach has been informed by development of this approach in other jurisdictions.”

Could you expand on that, Mr. Penstone?  You just mentioned that there is only one other entity that you know of that's actually using this, so other jurisdiction, or are we talking about it's being adopted and evolving?  Maybe I will get you to expand on that. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Singular. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  So it is one other jurisdiction.  Can it be identified, or do you identify it anywhere in the evidence?

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's OFGEM. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   All right.  So we have had that conversation. 

     MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Okay.  Thank you. 

     MS. GRICE:  I just have one question left.  If we can turn, please, to undertaking TCJ2.20, and, on the last page, page 3 of 3, this is a follow-up to a discussion we had at the technical conference where we were trying to gauge how the capital expenditures evolved from your process where you get your candidate investments, and then you optimized them.  Then you went out and talked to your stakeholders, and I see the numbers go up a bit, and then you get executive approval. 


Where in this whole chart is the reliability risk model?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  It's at the end where we have the plan, and we then determine what is the impact of that plan on reliability risk. 

     MS. GRICE:  And so that is -- that number doesn't change from the increase you made as a result of talking to your customers?  Is that right?  I just want to make sure I am understanding that.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  Well, we provided the three scenarios, and as a result of the three scenarios, we arrived at the plan that would reduce reliability risk by about 2 per cent, and that was consistent with the feedback that we received from the customer consultations, that they did not want to see reliability risk increase.  

So we checked that the plan met that expectation. 

     MS. GRICE:  So then it's kind of built into that third box?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So the operational stakeholder engagement, the outcome of that would have been -- I am going to say the draft plan that would then go for executive approval and – 

     MS. GRICE:  But you didn't ask your stakeholders to pick a scenario; right? 

     MR. PENSTONE:  No. 

     MS. GRICE:  You just -- it was illustrative only.  You had three scenarios, and you didn't ask them to pick.  So I am just missing -- I am not fully -- reliability risk model came in, and then how you evolved from your customer consultation to numbers.  

     MR. PENSTONE:  So what we would have done is taken the feedback.  There was some adjustments made on this particular slide on the blue line, the sustaining capital, as a result of the customer consultations.  

That subsequently impacted the investment plan.  We would have then tested that investment plan against the reliability risk to confirm that, in fact, reliability risk was going to go in the right direction.


If the outcome of those adjustments had been different, we would have recycled. 

     MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay.  And then just in terms of understanding these numbers, is it possible to get the actual dollar amounts instead of it in chart form?  

     MR. PENSTONE:  You must be like me, Ms. Grice, where your eyesight is getting pretty squinty, where I’m trying to figure that out.  Yes, we can.

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.7. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO PROVIDE THE DOLLAR FIGURES
     MS. GRICE:  Thank, you, those are my questions. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Ms. Grice.

Mr. Millar? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair. Just before I begin, Mr. Chair, Board Staff prepared a compendium of documents, which I have circulated to the parties, and I have some copies for the Board Panel. 


I believe everything in here is on the record already, and I propose to call it Exhibit K2.4.  

EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM
     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you.  And, Mr. Millar, if you could just take a break when you feel it's an appropriate time.  I don't know how long you plan on being, but we would break around 3:30. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am not sure if I’ll finish by then, but I will look to break around there one way or another. 


Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am a counsel for Board Staff.

I have a bit of a hodgepodge of issues I would like to go through today, so it may involve answers from several of you. 


Could we start by turning to page 1 of the Board Staff compendium, please.  And I guess, when we are doing the PDFs, I see the PDFs are two off.  But, yes, page 1 that we see here.

I wanted to start with some questions about the costs that were incurred in relation to the IPO and the new corporate structure, and Staff had asked a question about that which you will see here.  And you will see the response starting at line 17:

“All transactional costs associated with Hydro One's IPO have been borne solely by Hydro One's shareholder.” 

Just so we are clear on that, obviously that means the ratepayer did not bear any of those costs; is that correct?  

     MR. VELS:  That is correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And if you move on to the next paragraph, it states:

“The ongoing costs associated with Hydro One becoming a publicly-traded entity are related solely to company's new governance structure, as described further below.”

So with respect to those ongoing costs as opposed to the transaction -- sorry, the IPO related costs, are there additional costs related to those ongoing costs that are being paid for by ratepayers?  

     MR. VELS:  Mr. Millar, can you just clarify your definition of “incremental costs?”
     MR. MILLAR:  As a result of you going public and going through the IPO, you were required to implement a new corporate structure; is that correct?  

     MR. VELS:  Oh, you mean the new holding company?  

     MR. MILLAR:  All the costs that result from you going from a solely owned -- owned entirely by the Province of Ontario to your new structure, publicly-traded company.  There were costs of the IPO.  Am I correct?

     MR. VELS:  Correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And those were covered entirely by the shareholder. 

     MR. VELS:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Are there other costs, ongoing costs, that you refer to, starting at line 22 on page 1 of the compendium, result from you becoming a publicly-traded company? 

     MR. VELS:  The one that I would point to would be our investor relations group, which would be a new group and had not been part of the cost of the company previously.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And without me going through the entire application, those costs are clearly segregated?  That's something we can easily -- that's a number we can easily identify in the application?  

     MR. VELS:  If not, we would be prepared to provide it. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Just to make it easier, could I ask for an undertaking for that number? 

     MR. VELS:  Absolutely. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that will be J2.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  TO PROVIDE THE SEGREGATED COSTS IN THE APPLICATION.


MR. MILLAR:  Could you turn with me to page 5 of the compendium.  This is CCC Interrogatory No. 18.  And it relates to the corporate management costs specifically related to the board of directors.  And we will see from 2014, if you count the board of directors and the Chair, it's just under 2 million for actuals, just over 2 million for plan.  Let's call it about 2 million.  But then, in the years following the IPO, in particular the test years, we are looking at around $5 million in costs there; do you see that?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Is that a result of you becoming a publicly-traded company, that delta?  

     MR. VELS:  It's the result of the board of directors that's currently in place.  So I wouldn't link that cost necessarily directly to the fact that it is a public company.  The new board has skills and capabilities that are appropriate for the scale and scope of the company as we see it. 

     MR. MILLAR:  If you had not become a publicly-traded company would these costs have increased by more than double between 2014 and, call it, 2018?  

     MR. VELS:  I don't know the answer to that.  I can't speculate as to what the Government of Ontario would have wanted to do in terms of the composition of its board.  If it had required or there was a necessity to, you know, complete work or oversee complex issues that required an increase in the board and the board cost, that would have been their decision.  This is the board and the cost that the company believes is appropriate for the scale of its operations. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, is there any other reason that the costs would have increased so dramatically between 2014 and 2016, '17, '18?  

     MR. VELS:  The item that created the increase in costs was the appointment of a new board, and the new board was appointed after the IPO or during the IPO process.  If you were to speak with our board Chair, he would say that is the board in terms of their capabilities and their competence that's required to run the company. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And you can't say whether those costs would be lower if you hadn't become a publicly-traded company?  

     MR. VELS:  No. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Just to be clear, the costs that we were just discussing on page 5, those would not be included in the undertaking response you are providing, J2.8, the investor relations costs?  Those would be separate costs?
     MR. VELS:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 


Could you turn to page 7 of the compendium, please?  This is an LPMA interrogatory, and you will see in the response, line 14, you speak of a large -- he is asking about some increases in CCF&S costs.  And what does CCF&S stand for, just so it's clear for the record?  You have trouble with the acronym --

     MR. HUBERT:  Corporate common functions and services, I believe.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I had that written down somewhere.


MR. HUBERT:  You need an old horse for that one.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it states:

"A large part of the increase is due to the inclusion of 6.3 million of costs that are not recoverable from transmission or distribution customers."


And then those are itemized.


So if I read that correctly, a portion of this is not being recovered through rates; is that correct?

     MR. VELS:  You are referring to the $6.3 million?

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right. 

     MR. VELS:  None of that has been recovered through rates. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 


And if you flip the page to page 8, there are some significant increases in costs between -- starting from 2015.  If you look at corporate management, for example, 12.5 million in 2015, and it more than -- well, it essentially doubles from 2016, 2017, 2018, almost doubles.


Are any of the increases there the result of becoming a publicly-traded company, or are those unrelated? 

     MR. VELS:  Just to be clear, you are referring to the progression in costs that goes from 5.5 in 2014 to 12.5 in '15 and 14.5 in '16?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. VELS:  Okay.  Thank you. 


Those are the costs of the management of the company, and they would be driven by the management that has been appointed or hired to run the company.  It's not a reflection of the fact that it's a public company.  It's a reflection of the level of management that is required to run the company. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And does the level of management increase by becoming a publicly-traded company?  Like, is there no correlation with the increase here and becoming a publicly-traded company?  It wouldn't necessarily be a bad thing if that's the case.  I am just trying to understand. 

     MR. VELS:  No, no.  I don't believe that the reason is because it became a publicly-traded company.  The reason is -- and maybe we are dancing on the head of a pin, so feel free to tell me that, but the appointment of the new board and a determination by the new board that there were certain initiatives and improvements and, as we have termed, the transformation that is required in certain areas of the company, including customer focus, productivity, efficiency -- I won't go through the list -- required management who had experience in these areas and had a proven track record of achieving those outcomes.


The board determined and decided that they would appoint and hire management that they entrusted to accomplish these outcomes and were prepared to pay the market salaries that were required to attract that level and calibre of management to the job. 


So it's more of a reflection of the necessity to employ management who are able and capable to achieve the board's agenda.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, presumably that was true prior to 2016 as well, was it not?  

     MR. VELS:  And where I would agree with you is that this is a different board; they do have significant aspirations for this company, and that new board was appointed as a result of the company going public. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's helpful.  Thank you. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  So I think that's the link that you were looking for. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you very much.


Sorry, could you flip back to page 1 of the compendium, Board Staff 1. 

     MR. VELS:  Mr. Millar, Mr. -- Oded just drew my attention to the fact that our IR costs were in the schedule that we were just looking at. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Ah.  Well, what were they?  

     MR. HUBERT:  1.8, I believe. 

     MR. VELS:  $1.8 million, I think, is the number. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So does that satisfy the undertaking then?

     MR. VELS:  We are hoping. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If that's the number, then I am happy to take that. 


MR. VELS:  Yes, it is.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  


So if -- sorry, if you could turn to page 2 of the compendium, which is page 2 of that interrogatory response.  Near the top -- I won't read the whole paragraph, but you speak here -- I think it's getting to what you were just discussing, Mr. Vels:

"The statutory obligation of the board of directors is to manage the company."


And then you speak there of -- that, you know, it costs money to hire the right people.


Am I summarizing that accurately?  In fact, I think that's what you were just saying.

     MR. VELS:  That is what I just said.  I could read through this and make sure it confirms that. 

     MR. MILLAR:  No, I don't think we -- I think you already said -- you already said that. 


So could we flip to page 11 then, please, of the Staff compendium.  It's a payroll table for 2013 to '18.  In fact, it goes on -- it starts -- there is one for each year, 2013, '14, '15, and without taking you through the specific numbers, we see here "MCP" along the left-hand side.  What does MCP stand for?  That's management?

     MR. VELS:  That refers to the non-represented employees in the company. 

     MR. MILLAR:  But that's mostly managers, is it not? 

     MR. VELS:  No – well, it refers to management compensation.  But, yes, it would be anybody who is not represented by a union. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And I don't wish by any means to beat a dead horse here.  So if you have the same response to this as my previous questions, that's fine.

I won't take you through the exact numbers, but it seemed to us the largest percentage increases over the period 2013 to 2018, which is on page 16.

The largest increases were for that management group, and we wanted to ask if that had any relationship to your switch to becoming a private company -- or a publicly-traded company.

     MR. VELS:  I would like the answer this question by saying I, personally, don't believe so. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     MR. VELS:  But it's more appropriate, and I recommend that this question be asked to one of our upcoming panels, who can provide more detail as to the exact differences and changes in those balances. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will take your offer on that.  Do you know which panel that would be? 

     MR. VELS:  The finance panel, I think it is, which includes our executive vice-president of HR and people.  So both herselves and the finance people on the panel should be able to answer that question more fully than I could. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's very helpful.  Thank you. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Millar, one other thing, too, is I would point out that some of the costs that you were referring the witnesses to had been updated in Exhibit I-4-12. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Switching gears, I think I can fit one more thing in here before the break. 

Can we turn to page 22, please?


This is one of the pages from your proposed scorecard; is that correct?  

     MR. VELS:  Apologies, I am on the wrong page.  Did you say -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, page 22 of the Staff compendium.  Yes, right there.  It should be on your screen. 

     MR. VELS:  Thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And you will see there is the proposed cost control metrics that you have identified there. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And I wanted to ask you about those.  I suppose one of the purposes, at least as I see it, of the scorecard is it’s kind of an easy way for people to have a quick overview of the company and how it's doing.  Would you accept that?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I am a typical Hydro One transmission customer, how helpful are these cost control metrics to me in assessing how you are doing?  

Just take the middle one, sustainment capital for gross fixed assets.  You and I would probably agree that's an interesting and a useful measure, but if we are trying to communicate to typical ratepayers, is that something that is likely going to mean a lot of them?  

     MR. VELS:  By its nature, and given the size and complexity of the company, top-level metrics are difficult -- it's difficult to understand the moving parts on any of them; I absolutely accept that. 


These particular cost control metrics were recommended to us by Navigant, who are the experts that looked at our -- and made recommendations on our KPIs and conducted the benchmarking study.


So it does -- over time, our ability to reduce costs would be reflected in these metrics.  But, to your point, they are very high level. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So could I ask you to go back to page 19 of the compendium?  And this is Board Staff 91.  


In this interrogatory, Staff proposed a couple of metrics that you could consider.  One is dollars per megawatt hour, the other being a capacity measure, dollars per megawatt, and you were unenthusiastic to those ideas.

If you look to your response, for example at line 15:

“Costs based on unit volume do not account for differences in the geography, topography, customer density.”
Et cetera.  

And, first, I didn’t quite follow that.  Transmission is charged -- the UTR, the “U” stands for uniform.  What difference do geography, topography, density make in that context?  

     MR. VELS:  I think this question might have been better answered by Mr. Penstone.  I think it was yesterday when he noted that, regardless of changes in our unit volume, our fixed costs really don't change very much, and, as such, it's not a metric that would be comparable for period over period.  

     MR. HUBERT:  Mr. Millar, sorry.  If I could add to that, I think the particular reference here to geography and those other demographic type elements is with the intention of being able to use the scorecard for comparability to other entities.  So similar to the way the distribution scorecard is used to compare among distributors, at some point we would want to use these metrics to compare among other transmitters.  Therefore, we think the per megawatt hour or per megawatt metric is not as informative as an asset-based one.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But distributors have these scorecards, and they obviously have different geography, different density and -- they probably don't like it, but they have some measures where they probably think they are treated unfairly. 

     MR. HUBERT:  I think you may meet some distributors who feel that way, yes.  We are trying to be as objective as possible in terms of a proposed transmitter scorecard for the Board's consideration here. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And, in your view, that makes both the megawatt hour and the dollar per megawatt measure unhelpful?

     MR. HUBERT:  I would say less desirable than the gross book value one, in our view, yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You know, I think rather than belabour this point, we have your answers on that.  So we will see where we go with our argument, but I think I understand your position on it. 

     MR. HUBERT:  It really is a proposed scorecard exactly for the sake of it being evaluated, and even by Hydro One as it evolves over time. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would this be an appropriate time for a break?

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Sure.  Why don't we do that?  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Let's resume at 3:50.  Thank you.

--- Upon recess at 3:29 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  


Okay.  Maybe just before we get started, we will talk about logistics, what our expectations are for the rest of the day, before you start up again, Mr. Millar, if we can do that.


Mr. Nettleton, any...

     MR. NETTLETON:  I can inform you that Mr. Buckstaff is enjoying a turkey dinner south of the border, and he has confirmed, though, that his schedule is such that he has to be in Dallas on Tuesday, and so my concern is whether or not Navigant would be -- whether it would be best to ensure that Navigant is available from the beginning of the day on Monday just to make sure that that testimony and his appearance can accommodate his schedule.  And so my suggestion would be that that, in fact, is the process that we follow, that we allow Navigant to go on Monday morning, and if there is time at the end of the day on Monday, then we can move to the customer -- the joint customer panel.


And so that would mean, then, that, as for the time left in the day, my suggestion would be to have Board Staff complete their cross.  Obviously if you have questions, then we could end there.  


As of three minutes ago, I know that the IPSOS customer panel was still in the building, so to speak.  They could be empanelled.  We could go through and have their evidence adopted.  My concern, though, obviously, is that I can't speak to the panel once they are under oath, and so I was hoping to spend some time with them over the weekend, and so that's my concern there.  And, quite frankly, I don't think there is any savings in time, because if we are going right away on Monday to Navigant, I don't think there is any utility in that.  So --

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, it would be disjointed as well for you. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah.  Yes, exactly. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine.  I think that's acceptable. 


Let's carry on, on those assumptions then.  That sounds good. 


Mr. Millar. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 


Panel, I just had a couple of questions.  I wanted to follow up on some of the questions Ms. Girvan had asked you this morning, and, in that light, could we turn to page 35 of the Staff compendium. 


This is a document that Ms. Girvan took you to.  It was a -- I guess it looks like an undertaking response from the technical conference. 


And just to let you know where I am going, I am trying to get a handle on the totality of your productivity improvements, and I think that's what -- the savings that result from that, which is what I think Ms. Girvan was trying to get at too. 


So you have provided us with this undertaking response, and it has the totals at the bottom.  Is that the sum total of the productivity improvements?  Is that the number we should be looking at? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you flip back to Staff 25 -- pardon me, page 25 of the compendium, which is Staff 116 -- there you go.  It was a similar type of question where you provided us with some of the productivity improvement savings you had realized. 


Can I take it, then, that the numbers that we see here for 2017 and 2018, those would be part of the larger number that we saw on page 35 of the compendium?  

     MR. VELS:  If you look at Exhibit TCJ1.17. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's at page 35. 

     MR. VELS:  Thank you.  The station numbers is 2.9 and 3.5, and that is the same as the total on the schedule that you just referred to. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I didn't notice that, so obviously these are included in the global number you have in TCJ1.17. 

     MR. VELS:  Correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is the total number. 

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Could you turn to page 28 of the Staff compendium.  I’m sorry, 29.  This is a question about, I think, a new services agreement that you have.  If you look at page -- or, pardon me, line 21, 22, you discuss the savings that you are going to realize on account of that.  And that's $80 million over the ten-year term of the agreement.


Would that be included in JTC1.17 as well, or is that a different category? 

     MR. VELS:  No, it's not included in TCJ1.17.  There are various other elements of either cost avoidance or cost reduction that we did not define as productivity or efficiency savings.  This would be one of them where we have reduced our cost base through outsourcing our facilities, and this particular schedule provides an estimate of what the value of that is compared to what the costs would have been had we continued to in-source those services. 


There are also other examples.  For example, we do in the evidence -- and I won't waste time by trying to find the page -- refer to integrated station projects, where we also made an estimate of how much it would have cost the company had we not been following this strategy. 


And then, lastly and thirdly, we also included some initiatives which reduced the costs, such as the reduced pension contributions, which themselves contributed $11.1 million in 2017 and $10.2 million in 2018 to OM&A.  


Those are the way we defined them and how we are measuring and tracking them.  They are clearly significant benefits, but they didn't meet the definition as we define it of productivity savings. 


So all we have included in TCJ1.17 are what we are tracking as productivity savings that our management has committed to.  Other cost benefits, such as the outsourcing contract, the pension reduction, and integrated station replacements, for example, are not included in this schedule. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's an interesting -- it's kind of an interesting distinction between what exactly is productivity and what are other types of savings.  Is there anything more you can say about that, about how we can -- how we delineate between the two?  That was actually a very helpful answer, but I imagine there are times it's not quite clear if a saving is a result of productivity or some other source. 

     MR. VELS:  Generally, the way I would define it is that you have a baseline cost, and then there is an initiative or a project that is designed to improve the efficiency or the amount of that cost while still providing the same level of service. 


So information technology, for example, we can execute on some projects that we have identified to reduce our information technology costs in the scope of this particular application by about $8 million in total without impacting the level of service that the IT group provides to the business.


We have defined that as a reduction of a baseline cost, same level of service.  That's a productivity saving --
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's very helpful.  Thank you. 

     MR. VELS:  -- Whereas the pension, for example, is a  -- it's important, and it's material, but it's basically a cost reduction that we have achieved. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Let me move on. 


Ms. Cheung, you have been sitting very patiently all day, doubtless waiting for someone to ask you some questions.  I had a couple of questions on the tax matter, and I assume those are for you?
     MS. CHEUNG:  They are for either Mike or myself. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will ask the questions, and you can let me know who the best person to answer is. 


I don't know how much I will be taking you to the materials, but can you turn to page 45 of the compendium.  And if you'll permit me just to sort of walk through what has happened here just so I make sure I understand.


In Hydro One's evidence, Hydro One realized a deferred tax recovery of $2.6 billion that was triggered by the deemed disposition of its assets upon leaving the PILs regime in 2015?

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And, in a Staff IR, you estimated that about $1.5 billion of that would have been allocated to transmission? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And, as I understand it, the shareholder paid that amount by injecting $2.6 billion into Hydro One, for which they got 2.6 billion shares?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  I think you need to treat that as two separate transactions.  When they exited the -- when they ceased to be exempt, tax-exempt, from the Federal Income Tax Act, that triggers departure tax.  So the company incurred a tax liability of $2.6 billion that needed to be paid to the OEFC.  In order to get -- so that was an expense that the company incurred. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  And then Ontario decided, which we had discussed earlier in direct evidence, that they need to inject $2.6 billion into the company to restore its equity before IPO. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand.  And, potentially, there could have been other ways to pay that tax liability; is that correct?  You could, for example, have sought to have ratepayers pay that amount?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  In this situation, we have not asked the ratepayers to pay for that 2.6 billion. 

     MR. MILLAR:  No, I know you haven't.  But that was another option that could have been open to you today? 

     MR. VELS:  No.  Well, we did, in our direct, outline that as an alternative, but we didn't consider it to be an option because -- and I think the wording is important -- because it's not a cost that relates to the cost of providing service.  It's the result of an action by the company's shareholder and, as such, we considered it inappropriate to recover that cost from our customers. 

     MR. MILLAR:  No.  I understand you think it was inappropriate.  Just in the world of possibilities, another way you could have approached this was to have sought permission from the Board to allow that expense to be borne by ratepayers.  That was something you could have done, but you didn't. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  We could have done that, but I didn't. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I think, Mr. Vels, it was you -- I don't have the transcript reference, but I heard you say a third option would have been to take debt that would have covered that expense. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Had you done that, I guess, ultimately that debt -- if it wasn't going to be covered by the ratepayers, that ultimately would be a shareholder liability, whether it's the old shareholders or the new shareholders?  Somebody would be holding that debt, and I take it, it wouldn't be the ratepayers?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, it's an interesting question because, had we done it, the balance sheet of the company would have been significantly weakened.  We probably would have lost our “A” credit rating, and that would have impacted the regulated utility.  At that point, we would have probably had a difficult decision to make and some hard conversations about who should bear that cost. 

     MR. MILLAR:  No doubt that's one of the reasons you didn't go down that path. 

     MR. VELS:  Right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  But that, in theory, was one of the things you could have done. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So what happened was that the money to pay the departure tax was provided by Hydro One to the shareholder and then, I understand, it's paid to the OEFC?  That's who gets the 2.6 billion. 

     MR. VELS:  The amount we paid, the departure tax expense, that was paid by us was paid to the OEFC.  That's right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And what does the OEFC do with that money?  Is it used to reduce the stranded debt?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  It's used to reduce the provincial long-term debt.  

     MR. MILLAR:  What is the relationship between your shareholder and OEFC?  

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure I am qualified to answer that question in a technical manner, but they are another entity that would form part of the Province of Ontario. 

     MR. MILLAR:  In truth, I don't actually know their corporate structure either, whether they are -- I don't know how they are set up.  But they are controlled by the shareholder.  Is that fair to say?  It's one of the successor companies to the old Ontario Hydro. 

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  And I don't know what their governance is or how they are controlled -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  And neither do I. 

     MR. VELS:  -- or what level of independent decision-making they have.  So I have to plead the fifth on that one.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the result of Hydro One paying this $2.65 billion transfer tax, one of the results is that, without getting into the details, certain credits become available to Hydro One that can be used to offset taxes in future years?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  As a result of the fair market value bump, which is the difference between the fair market value and tax costs, would be an eligible CCA deduction in the future. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So at a corporate level, Hydro One will have less tax liability -- I think you say over five years in the evidence, but, whatever the time period is, the corporation of Hydro One will have to pay less taxes than it otherwise would have. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And your proposal is that these tax savings do not flow through rates.  In other words, they would be to the benefit of the shareholder and not the ratepayer?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  These are to the benefit of the shareholder due to the benefits-follow-costs principle. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And I am going to take you there, but I just want to make sure we have the facts clear first. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So the shareholder will keep the tax savings, not the ratepayer. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.  The shareholder would keep the savings. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And, in the evidence, you refer to two principles in support of that idea.  One is the “benefits follows costs” principle.  You also mentioned the standalone principle.  Is that right? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Let's start with benefits follow cost.  So the benefit that you have identified here are -- it's the credits that will be used to offset future taxes; right?  That's the benefit side of the equation? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's the benefit, the CCA deduction. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Is that the only benefit? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's primarily the benefit. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Did the fact that the shareholder pay the departure tax increase the share price for the IPO?  I think, Mr. Vels, you discussed this yesterday. 

     MR. VELS:  Can you just repeat the question so I can be clear?

     MR. MILLAR:  Did the fact that the shareholder pay the departure tax, did that increase the price of the shares for IPO? 

     MR. VELS:  So the shareholder didn't pay the departure tax; the company did. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  

     MR. VELS:  And then the company recapitalized itself by an issuance of shares to the province.  The fact that the province took it upon itself to recapitalize the company and avoid the weakening of the company's balance sheet and all the other consequences that would have arisen from that did increase the value of the company's shares. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And is that a benefit?  Is that a benefit to the shareholder?  

     MR. VELS:  Over time, I expect it would be, as the shareholder is able to sell its shares. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Not just over time.  They have sold the shares, have they not? 

     MR. VELS:  Oh, sorry, and obviously for the shares they sold, yes, that's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Let's look at the cost side of the equation.  I take it that Hydro One's view is that the shareholder incurred the $2.6 billion cost by its injection of that amount into the utility to pay the departure tax.  That's the cost we are talking about?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  All other things being equal, the shareholder would have been entitled to retain and utilize the departure tax as it would for another municipally-owned utility. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And since Hydro One incurred that cost, it's your view they should be the one who gets the associated benefit?  That's the benefits-follows-costs principle? 

     MR. VELS:  That's right, yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And, as we discussed before, the $2.6 billion payment went to OEFC, a corporation -- I guess that's what the “C” stands for -- with which your shareholder certainly has a close relationship.  

Did the shareholder simply move $2.6 billion from one of its pockets to a different pocket?  Is that what happened here?  Did they actually pay a cost?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, we believe that the shareholder did incur a cost.  Without the need to recapitalize the company and ensure the value of its investment wasn’t degraded, it needed to recapitalize the company and contribute cash to the company in exchange for shares. 


In the absence of that, it would have retained the $2.6 billion that it had to return to the company, and it would have had that available for other uses, infrastructure or whatever was required. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Or retiring debt, for that matter?

     MR. VELS:  Or retiring debt. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Which is ultimately where the money went. 

     MR. VELS:  Well, the departure tax went there. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the 2.6 billion. 

     MR. VELS:  What they would have done with the other monies that they returned to the company via recapitalization, I can't comment on that.  They would have had and retained the $2.6 billion.  They had to find another $2.6 billion to recapitalize the company.  So it's not a left pocket/right pocket, in my opinion.  It's an amount of money that they would have retained in different circumstances and did not.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.  

     MR. VELS:  Thank you. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Thank you. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Thompson do you have some questions? 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I just want to make sure I understand the facts of the privatization transaction, so you will just have to bear with me while I go through this.  And what I will be referring to is -- well, amongst other things, let's just start with the company's annual return.  I don't think you need to show this up.  
It's the 2015 annual return, and it's page 1.  And at the bottom of it, there is the corporate structure, and at the top of the corporate structure is Hydro One Limited.  Now, was that company recently incorporated?  

     MR. VELS:  That company was incorporated prior to the IPO. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I see. 

     MR. VELS:  I can't recall exactly how long, but it was very close to the time of the IPO, but previous to the IPO. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I read somewhere August 31st, 2015.  Does that sound about right?

     MR. VELS:  That does sound right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And was its incorporation done to facilitate the privatization?  

     MR. VELS:  The reason that Hydro One Limited was incorporated is the IPO provided the company with an opportunity to reorganize its corporate structure without the necessity to go back subsequently and require shareholder approval, which can be difficult for a reorganization of the company. 


So we -- or the company, rather, made a decision to put in place a structure that more clearly separated its regulated and unregulated subsidiaries, and the expectation by doing that is it's created a vehicle, which is Hydro One Limited, that, over time, can expand and can acquire other unregulated and -- well, actually, and presumably regulated subsidiaries as well and hold them separately as opposed to having Hydro One Inc., which is our regulated company, hold those other investments.  So it was a way to simplify the structure without -- and take advantage of the shareholder approvals that we had access to at the time of the IPO. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so it was part of a broader vision -- 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, yes -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- than just privatizing the operating companies while the shares of Hydro One Inc., which owns Networks, which in turn operates Transmission and Distribution?  

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?  Okay. 


And so with that, then, let me go to -- I think it's BOMA's compendium, and this is the prospectus that I believe you were just referring to, Mr. Vels, and that's at tab 3 -- sorry, page 3-B of BOMA's compendium.  And it appears in the compendia of others as well.  It's the prospectus of Hydro One Limited, and I believe it's dated October the 29th, 2015.


Do you have that document?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so if you go over to page 3-H, principal and selling shareholder, am I right that, when Hydro One Limited was incorporated, the number of shares was 100,000 shares?  This is what this is telling me, and I just wonder if that's a correct fact. 

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And all those shares were owned by the Government of Ontario.

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so the next -- sorry, is the next step in this transaction -- well, let me back up.


In terms of the decision to privatize, the government had to unlock the share value in the two operating companies; is that fair?  

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure what you mean by “unlock.” 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, to monetize it, they had to figure out a way to sell those shares to the public. 

     MR. VELS:  To create some marketable securities?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you couldn't do that with 100,000 shares.  That wouldn't make sense.  You needed to have a lot more shares. 

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so the enterprise, in terms of the enterprise, again back to what was in page 1 of your annual report, this shows Hydro One owning Hydro One Inc. and Hydro One Inc. owning Networks, which operates Transmission and Distribution.  It also has remote communities.  But there is a note here:

“Rate regulated business is 99 per cent of total revenues.”

Is that order of magnitude?

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So the operating companies producing profits are transmission and distribution, the regulated companies; is that right?  

     MR. VELS:  The bulk of the profits, absolutely.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So when it came to value the enterprise -- and I think this was in Mr. Brett's examination yesterday, and I believe it may well be in the prospectus, but there is a passage that talks about items being, I guess -- I think it's on page 3-J, in the second paragraph, about the middle:

"The estimated fair market value of Hydro One's net assets was determined by Hydro One principally using a discounted cash flow approach for certain assets."


Now, are the certain assets Hydro One Transmission and Hydro One Distribution?  That were valued using the discounted cash flow method?

     MR. VELS:  In addition to the other assets, Hydro One Telecom and B2M and others in the group, yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so it was the profitability of those enterprises that produced a value under the discounted cash flow method.  Is that -- 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I think that would be a fair comment. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so is it fair to say that the bulk of the value that's indicated here of 13 and a half billion stemmed from the profitability of the regulated entities?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes, I believe that's an accurate statement.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so to then move forward with the privatization initiative, to do the privatization would involve Networks and Hydro One -- well, including Transmission and Distribution stepping out of the PILs regime?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, under the Electricity Act, they were required -- in fact, that was an outcome.  Any time a municipal entity sells more than 10 per cent of its shares, that is an outcome of the transaction. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And to -- I don't know if "stepping out" is the right word -- withdraw or forced out -- but that then triggered the departure tax obligation that's being discussed; am I right?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And there was discussion yesterday, and I think there is an undertaking where you are going to show us how that was calculated or what it means or something to that effect, but there was discussion yesterday that there were two components to that calculation.  One is related to income, and then the second was related to the capital gain.  Did I understand that correctly?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And is the income piece tied to the income that had been earned by the transmission companies prior to the privatization date?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  The income piece, it relates to the fixed assets.  So if the fair market value is greater than the original cost of the fixed assets for tax purposes, that would be a capital gain component.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  If -- so up to -- if you look at the undepreciated capital cost allowance of the fixed asset up to the original cost base, that would be called a recapture, and so that would be taxed at an income-tax rate, like, at 100 per cent.  That's what's called income components. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let me just play that back.  Let's assume the sale took place at tax value, the current tax value.  Am I right that there would still be departure tax payable?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  So it depends on which value we are speaking of.  If it's the UCC balance, the assumed UCC balance was 100 and the original tax cost of buying that asset was 150.  And we if we said that the fair market value was 150, 50, the differential there would be tax -- considered as tax on income. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  It's the equivalent of recapturing depreciation or CCA, whatever they call it in other transactions.  Is that right?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.  It's a recapture. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if it had actually been sold at book value, there would be some departure tax, but not the capital gains piece.  Have I stated that correctly?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  If I am using my same numbers, if fair market value was at 150, the original book tax costs, then, yes, we would be owing tax on the 50.  Anything in excess of that would be considered a capital gain.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So had there been no spread between current tax value and the market value, there would still have been a departure tax component?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so then what we have that -- and are the calculations you are doing for Mr. Brett going to show us that piece separate from the capital gains piece? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  So our calculation will show the tax costs and the fair market value, and we will split it accordingly to what's taxed as income and what's taxed as capital gains. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so it's the spread between what was then current tax value and market value that gives rise to the capital gain piece of the departure tax; is that right? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Tax cost and fair market value, yes, original tax cost. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the facts that give rise to the capital gain are the facts of the profitability of the utility companies?  

     MR. VELS:  Well, I think the transaction that gave rise to the capital gain was the decision by the province to sell its shares, which resulted in exit from the PILs regime into the CRA regime and required a bump up in the tax values of the assets of the company.  

I mean, it didn't really change the basis upon which the costs of the service are being provided.  It is a linked impact.  The departure tax is required to be paid under the Electricity Act at the same time that the transfer from the PILs regime to the CRA regime required the revaluation of the tax assets.  The cost of one -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I am not sure I quite follow that, but I will just try and confine it to the facts. 


Is it a fact that the profitability of the two -- well, the utility operations, regulated operations, is what produced a value significantly greater than the current tax value?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes.  The profits that the shareholder retains from the regulated entities drives the value of the shares of the company. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that's a cause of -- one of the causative elements of a component of this 2.6 billion?  

     MR. VELS:  Because it drives the value of the assets that the shareholder owns, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so then we come to the obligation to pay that departure tax.  Now, does the obligation rest with Hydro One Inc. -- does it, I guess, emanate from the transmission piece and the distribution piece that are owned by Hydro One Networks Inc., which is in turn held by Hydro One Inc.?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  The departure liability or the cost that was paid was paid by each legal entity.  So Hydro One Networks Inc. itself paid 2.3 billion and the remaining was paid by the remaining, the other subs. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is that accurate, or is it Hydro One Limited paid those amounts on behalf of its subsidiaries?  It's the holding company at the top that paid the money, as I understand the facts.  Am I missing something?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  From what I understand, it went through the chain of the companies.  There was a recapitalization between -- from up top to below, and then paid out the departure tax.  Each legal entity had the pay their share. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  So they sent the money down to pay it to the government? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that money had to be paid before there could be any privatization.  That was a precursor to being able to sell shares to the public, was it?  Am I right?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  That was paid before the privatization.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so, in the privatization transaction, as Mr. Millar mentioned, the shareholder of Hydro One, which is the government, right, advanced $2.6 billion to Hydro One Limited.  Have I got that straight?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And took in return 2.6 billion shares of Hydro One Limited?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then those 2.6 billion shares -- so that was in addition to the 100,000.  Am I right?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then those 2.6 billion shares were -- and I am looking here again at page 3-H of Mr. Brett's compendium -- there was what I think is called a reverse split, and so the 2.6 billion shares which were acquired at $1 per common share, were then put into reverse split so that. at the end of the day, there would be 595 million common shares; is that right? 

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so excluding the 100,000 that they already had, the payment of the 2.6 billion produced for the owner 5 million – sorry, 595,900,000 common shares in Hydro One Limited.  That's just taking the 100,000 out of that 595 million number.  

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure that's correct.  I think they ended up with 595 million shares in total.  That's something we could check. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am just looking here at page 3‑H, and subparagraph 2 towards the bottom of the page.  What it's telling me is that the government ended up with 595 million common shares.  Is that the way you read it? 

     MR. VELS:  595 million common shares?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. VELS:  I am sorry.  I must have misheard you.  Correct, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you do the math and you do the reverse split, it works out to between four and five -- I think I am right -- common shares to produce -- this is of the 2.6 billion to get it down to 595.  It turns out that, for those shares, the government paid about between $4 and $5 per share.  Does that math work for you?  

     MR. VELS:  I will accept that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the government then held 595 million shares that cost it between $4 and $5, and those shares were part to be sold to the market in tranches at $20 per share.  This is what the prospectus tells us. 

     MR. VELS:  Well, the initial tranche was to be priced at $20.50 a share. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  In the initial tranche somewhere, it's almost 30 per cent -- 

     MR. VELS:  Fifteen.


MR. THOMPSON:  Hmm?


MR. VELS:  The initial tranche was 15 per cent. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I thought there was one that followed shortly thereafter.  

     MR. VELS:  Oh, you are talking about the initial allotment and then the overallotment?  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah.  The timing between the two wasn't very long, was it?

     MR. VELS:  In the initial offering, or are you talking about the initial offering and then the secondary?

     MR. THOMPSON:  I guess I am talking about the initial and the secondary. 

     MR. VELS:  Okay.  So the combination of this initial, which is this prospectus --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah.


MR. VELS:  -- was 15 per cent, and then the secondary offering, which occurred several months later, was another 14 per cent, to a total of about 29 per cent.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so did they both go out around $20 a share, or were they -- 

     MR. VELS:  No.  The first tranche was about $20 -- was $20.50.  The second tranche -- and I am testing my memory here.  I apologize for that -- was significantly higher, about 26 and change.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So let's just assume -- 

     MR. VELS:  I would like to just -- subject to check on that number. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think in Mr. Millar's compendium there is an exhibit -- yeah.  I guess it's at page 2 of his compendium, and the government started out with 595 million shares.  It now holds 416.8 million, roughly, according to this document. 

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?


MR. VELS:  That's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So they have sold less than 200, but almost -- well, sorry, they have sold more than 200 million shares -- excuse me.  100 and -- I will get my math right.  It's about, what, 178 million shares have been sold?  

     MR. VELS:  Yeah.  The difference between 595 and 416.8. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, right.  At 20 bucks, let's say, rounded, that's over $3.5 billion, isn't it?  

     MR. VELS:  Yeah. The value per share is higher than 20, because the second tranche was higher than $20, but directionally it's -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Directionally it's a big number. 

     MR. VELS:  It's a big number. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And all that money went to the Province because they own the shares. 

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so the 2.6 billion has been recovered and then some, and they still own 416 million shares?  

     MR. VELS:  I wouldn't agree with that.  The amount that the government has realized for its -- for the roughly 30 per cent that it has sold in total to date represents in large part the original value of the business and any value that had been added since the IPO.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I am not going to argue with you.  I think I have the facts on that point.


Now, just in terms of the deferred tax asset that this transaction has created, in the prospectus that Mr. Brett provided -- and this number was discussed yesterday -- the deferred tax asset, I think, had a value of -- if I understood this discussion correctly, it was 1.245 million.  I am looking at page 3-J.  It's in the full paragraph just before the bottom of the page in the third line.  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I see it. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then -- and I was a little bit confused by that number, and then the number in the annual report and elsewhere was the 2.6 billion number, but I think I now understand it's combining the two transactions, the first and then the supplementary; is that right?  

     MR. VELS:  No.  The net -- did you want to explain this?  Or I am happy to do it. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yeah, I will explain it.  I will explain it. 

     MR. VELS:  Okay. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  So, in the prospectus the number, we see right now is 1.245 billion deferred tax asset.  We need to look at the reversal of the deferred tax liability and add this component to it.  You will get a deferred tax recovery of about 2.6 billion, which is equivalent to the departure tax.  This is in the prospectus.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, when we talk about the deferred tax asset, is this -- excuse me.  When we talk about this CCA benefit that is in -- you were discussing it with Mr. Millar, and in his exhibit at page -- I guess it's 45 and 46 -- it's here described that the 2.619 million deferred tax recovery -- is that the benefit, the CCA benefit, that is produced because these -- the fair market value was as high as it was?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  It is.  That represents the benefit. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, that's the benefit.  And is the number that I was talking about earlier from Mr. Brett's examination, is that the same thing, or is it another thing?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  It's the same idea and concept.  The prospectus was based on an estimate whereas the annual report is more based on the actuals. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so -- but am I right that it grew from the prospectus to the timing in the annual report, because you had two sales, not one?  Is that what brings it up to the 2.619, or what am I missing?

     MS. CHEUNG:  No.  The prospectus is based on June actuals and projected for fixed assets to October.  There is no two sale, it is the same assets that use -- because we have two different valuation reports that was used to estimate or calculate the departure tax and to calculate the deferred tax recovery for the annual report. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I think I have it now. 

     MR. VELS:  Put another way, the deferred tax bump, if I can use that terminology -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. VELS:  -- and the departure tax were all caused by the first action by the shareholder to sell its first tranche of shares.  Any subsequent sale by the shareholder in the secondary offering or by disposition to any other party has no further impact on that deferred tax bump.  It is an amount that, as Glendy -- Ms. Cheung said, was estimated at a point in time and then finalized, and then it doesn't change except for the realization of the tax benefits over time. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I am understanding you now.  In any event, the benefit that you are talking about in this application that you say should follow the costs that were put up to pay off the departure tax is $2.619 million. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct -- billion.  

     MR. VELS:  I just want to clarify that that is the total benefit.  It applies to all of the company subsidiaries.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. VELS:  So there is a smaller number, roughly $2.3 million, that relates to the regulated companies.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, is the amount here to be allocated to transmission 1.475 million, as shown on page 46?  In other words, this has been split between transmission and the others. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  That's the component for transmission. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that's the component for transmission.  There is another piece for distribution, and there is another piece for other.  Have I got that straight?

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Fine.  And what is it for distribution, just sort of big picture?

     MR. VELS:  We can provide that number. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Would you mind doing that, please? 

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.9. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  TO PROVIDE THE COMPONENT FOR DISTRIBUTION

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So now, just to complete this, I want to take you to -- I guess it was something in the Anwaatin compendium here.  And, again, it's from the -- so it's at tab 1 of the Anwaatin compendium.  The first tab is the prospectus, and it's a few pages in at page 162 of the prospectus.  

And the heading is "Risks Relating to Deferred Tax Asset," and this topic appears in the annual report as well.  The company identified a risk related to disposition that this deferred tax asset goes to the shareholder, and you’ve had that discussion with others.  


And so just in this section of the prospectus -- so this is October 31st.  This is before the annual report -- the last sentence reads: 

“There is a risk that, in future applications, the Ontario Energy Board will reduce the company's revenue requirement by all or a portion of those net cash savings.”
     The cash savings referring to the benefit that we have been talking about.  Is that what they are referring to, the cash savings? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then it says:

“If the Ontario Energy Board were to reduce the company's revenue requirement in this manner, it could have a material adverse effect on --”

And it says:  “The company.”
And the company is Hydro One Limited; is that what you say?  

     MR. VELS:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, what adverse effect would it have on it, other than reducing its income?  Is that the adverse effect?

     MR. VELS:  It would reduce the cash generated by the company that would be available to return to its shareholder. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so that's what I just wanted to get to, the last area here on this examination. 


In the application -- and I am looking at Exhibit C1, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 1 of 4 -- the income taxes forecast for transmission for 2017 are 81.3 million and 90.4 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?  

     MR. VELS:  Not to waste your time, but I just need to repeat it.  I was looking for the page while you were -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think is on the screen. 

     MR. VELS:  You are quoting the 81.3 and the 90.4?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. VELS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's -- those are the taxes of Hydro One TX calculated on a flow-through basis, am I right?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, those are the taxes for TX.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Okay.  And so assume ratepayers pay those, and all of -- am I right that what ratepayers pay and what is actually paid to the government by the holding company -- does everything flow through the holding company when taxes are paid? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  No.  They are paid at the legal entity, so transmission would be a part of Hydro One Networks Inc.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if you collect that money, but you have the benefit of these -- I call them CCA tax savings or whatever -- 

MS. CHEUNG:  Right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- will they be applied to reduce that number?

     MS. CHEUNG:  No, they weren't. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Will they be if you get this benefit in 2017?
     MS. CHEUNG:  You are talking about the 1.475 as calculated?  If they got the benefit, would this applied to -- 

     MR. VELS:  The answer is no.  These taxes are arising from the historical -- or the tax deductions that apply to the company's regulated asset values.  The benefit that you are referring to, or the tax bump, relates to the revaluation for tax purposes that was required as a result of joining the -- I guess, moving into the CRA regime. 

So ratepayers will continue to bear the costs of deduction of the taxes relative to the service that's being provided, and the deductions from taxes will relate to the regulated asset values and the book values that are in place and have been in place and which ratepayers have paid for historically. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what are you going to do with these benefits, the 2.6 million?  You are going to have to use them to reduce taxes.  

     MS. CHEUNG:  We will be using them to reduce the taxes as a legal entity basis.  We track them as a non-regulated segment as part of our calculations. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I think what you are telling me is you are going to use them to reduce taxes of other companies in the Hydro One Limited family, but you are not going to touch these taxes; is that right? 

     MS. CHEUNG:  No.  We will be reducing Hydro One Network Inc.’s taxes as a legal entity, but not in these transmission segment. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So when the money flows up, it's not -- all of this 81.3 is not going to go to the government?  Hydro One Inc. and Hydro One Limited are going to get the benefit of the CCA deduction above the operating companies?  

     MR. VELS:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so let's -- and how much of the 81.3 will not work its way through to the tax authority?  Any of it?  Or is there this Minimum Tax Rule that applies to these companies?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  There is an Ontario Minimum Tax Rule that would apply, which is based on net income before taxes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what is it -- I forget the number, but 81 would go down to a number, but not below that number. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what would be the numbers for the 81 and the 90?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  The minimum tax?   

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, the minimum tax, the floor below which the tax cannot go below. 

     MS. CHEUNG:  The tax rate is 2.7 per cent of the net income before income tax.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that easily calculable, or can you do that by undertaking?  

     MS. CHEUNG:  The Minimum Tax is calculated as a legal entity, so there would be different segments.  I am just trying to think -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  What I am asking is, as this money moves up, is there a minimum amount of the 81.3 that has to go to the taxing authority, or can it be wiped out by the benefits that you say are yours? 

     MR. VELS:  Yes, there is a minimum tax amount that will be payable.  We can't calculate that easily now. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Can you do it by undertaking?

     MR. VELS:  Yes, we can. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can I have a number for that, please?  I am sorry.  I may have interrupted you, Mr. Vels. 

     MR. MILLAR:  J2.10.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.10:  TO CALCULATE THE MINIMU TAX THAT WILL BE PAYABLE
     MR. THOMPSON:  Did I interrupt you?   

     MR. VELS:  Oh, no, no.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I am sorry.  And in the material summary -- I think it's the annual report -- you talk about this benefit being available for five years.  Is that right?

     MS. CHEUNG:  That's what is disclosed in the prospectus. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And is that based on a calculation, or is it -- do they dry up after five years?  I guess that’s what I am asking, even if they are unused? 

     MR. VELS:  The position we took is there is a fairly significant amount of uncertainty as to the timing of the recovery of those tax amounts because it's dependent, to a large extent, on the profitability of the company.  The deductions do survive for actually many years, but the bulk of the deductions would be utilized to the extent possible up to the value of taxable income that's earned by the company. 

So to provide an estimate of how long the material benefits would last, we selected a period of five years to provide shareholders with some level of indication as to the relative materiality of the benefit. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it's not tied to any -- 

     MR. VELS:  No, no.  And those deductions would continue over some time, just because of the nature of the assets. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So my last question is this:  If the Board were to find that the principles that you rely upon do not apply and that this benefit should be allocated to Transmission, how should it be implemented?  Should it be by way of a reduction in the income taxes in cost of service or in some other manner?  You want to take that just as a takeaway and get back to me on that, or can you answer it now? 

     MR. VELS:  I am not sure that I can answer it either now or later.  I just -- that would be something we would have to think about carefully.  I mean, our position would be that we would need to recover the departure tax through rates as well or, alternatively, revalue or change the regulated rate base or increase rate base values in order to fully recapture the cost to the shareholder, so it for sure would be a complex discussion.  I am not sure I would want to even start speculating as to how that would occur. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we will wait to see how the universe unfolds.  Thank you, Mr. Vels. 

     MR. VELS:  Thank you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Those are my questions. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Any questions?


Just back to the conversation we had earlier about the executive incentive packages, because we are fine with what's been proposed.  I don't know if we had an official undertaking that was an endeavour to look at that, but we will let the transcript be the guide to what our expectations are from Mr. Vels' explanation as to what the concerns were, so it will be subsequent to December 2nd, and whatever is approved at that point we would like to have come on the record with the business plan as well.


Okay?  And I just wanted to get that out of the way before I forgot it, and do you have any redirect?

     MR. NETTLETON:  No.  I think there has been an undertaking, and I think we would incorporate it into 2.1, I think is the correct undertaking, so thank you. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


Any redirect, Mr...  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Can I have two minutes?  

     MR. QUESNELLE:   Sure.  


--- Counsel confer.

     MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, no, I have no redirect for this panel.  Thank you. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


It's been a long couple days, and thank you very much for your -- being so forthright and concise with your answers.  I thank this panel very much.


We will resume on Monday morning at 9:30 with the panel from Navigant.  Okay?  Thank you.


Everyone have a good weekend. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:59 p.m.
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